Genpact LTD Form DEF 14A April 11, 2013 Table of Contents

# UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

## **SCHEDULE 14A**

Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934

(Amendment No. )

Filed by the Registrant x Filed by a Party other than the Registrant "

Check the appropriate box:

- " Preliminary Proxy Statement
- " Confidential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14a-6(e)(2))
- x Definitive Proxy Statement
- " Definitive Additional Materials
- " Soliciting Material Pursuant to §240.14a-12

## **GENPACT LIMITED**

(Name of Registrant as Specified In Its Charter)

None

(Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy Statement, if other than the Registrant)

Payment of Filing Fee (Check the appropriate box):

x	No f	No fee required.					
	Fee computed on table below per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(1) and 0-11.						
	(1)	Title of each class of securities to which transaction applies:					
	(2)	Aggregate number of securities to which transaction applies:					
	(3)	Per unit price or other underlying value of transaction computed pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 0-11 (set forth the amount on which the filing fee is calculated and state how it was determined):					
	(4)	Proposed maximum aggregate value of transaction:					
	(5)	Total fee paid:					
	Fee 1	paid previously with preliminary materials.					
	Check box if any part of the fee is offset as provided by Exchange Act Rule 0-11(a)(2) and identify the filing for which the offsetting fee was paid previously. Identify the previous filing by registration statement number, or the Form or Schedule and the date of its filing.						
	(1)	Amount Previously Paid:					
	(2)	Form, Schedule or Registration Statement No.:					
	(3)	Filing Party:					

(4) Date Filed:

April 11, 2013

Dear Fellow Shareholder:

I am pleased to invite you to attend the 2013 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of Genpact Limited to be held on Wednesday, May 8, 2013 at Devonshire House, Mayfair Place, London, W1J 8AJ United Kingdom. The Annual General Meeting will commence at 10 a.m. local time.

At the annual meeting, we expect to consider and act upon the following matters:

- (1) To elect ten (10) directors to hold office until the next annual election and until their successors are duly elected and qualified;
- (2) To ratify and approve the appointment of KPMG as our independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2013; and
- (3) To transact such other business as may properly come before the meeting or any adjournment thereof.

Details regarding admission to the meeting and the business to be conducted at the meeting are more fully described in the accompanying Notice of 2013 Annual General Meeting and Proxy Statement.

Your vote is important. Whether or not you plan to attend the annual meeting, I hope you will vote as soon as possible. Voting by proxy will ensure your representation at the Annual General Meeting if you do not attend in person. Please review the instructions on the enclosed proxy card regarding each of your voting options.

Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for the Shareholder meeting to be held on May 8, 2013. The proxy statement and annual report on Form 10-K are available at www.genpact.com.

Thank you for your ongoing support of and continued interest in Genpact.

Sincerely,

N.V. Tyagarajan

President and Chief Executive Officer

#### **GENPACT LIMITED**

#### NOTICE OF 2013 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

#### To Be Held on May 8, 2013

The 2013 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of Genpact Limited, which is referred to herein as the annual meeting or the meeting, will be held on Wednesday, May 8, 2013, at Devonshire House, Mayfair Place, London, W1J 8AJ United Kingdom. The annual meeting will commence at 10 a.m. local time and the following matters will be considered and acted upon at the annual meeting:

- (1) To elect ten (10) directors to hold office until the next annual election and until their successors are duly elected and qualified;
- (2) To ratify and approve the appointment of KPMG as our independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2013; and
- (3) To transact such other business as may properly come before the meeting or any adjournment thereof.

Shareholders of record at the close of business on March 8, 2013 are entitled to vote at the annual meeting. Your vote is important regardless of the number of shares you own. Whether you expect to attend the annual meeting or not, please complete, sign, date and promptly return the enclosed proxy card in the postage-prepaid envelope we have provided. You can also submit your proxy to vote your shares over the Internet as provided in the instructions set forth on the proxy card. Your prompt response will ensure that your shares are represented at the annual meeting. You can change your vote and revoke your proxy at any time before the polls close at the annual meeting by following the procedures described in the accompanying proxy statement.

All shareholders are cordially invited to attend the annual meeting.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

Victor F. Guaglianone

Corporate Secretary

April 11, 2013

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
IMPORTANT INFORMATION ABOUT THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND VOTING	1
What is the purpose of the annual meeting?	1
Who can vote?	1
How many votes do I have?	2
Is my vote important?	2
How do I vote?	2
Can I change my vote after I have mailed my proxy card or after I have submitted my proxy to vote my shares over the Internet?	2
Can I vote if my shares are held in street name?	2
What is a broker non-vote?	3
What constitutes a quorum?	3
What vote is required for each item?	3
How will votes be counted?	3
Who will count the votes?	4
How does the Board of Directors recommend that I vote on the proposals?	4
Will any other business be conducted at the meeting or will other matters be voted on?	4
Where can I find the voting results?	4
How and when may I submit a shareholder proposal, including a shareholder nomination for director, for the 2014 annual general	
meeting?	4
What are the costs of soliciting these proxies?	5
Will the 2012 financial statements be presented to the annual meeting?	6
How can I obtain an Annual Report on Form 10-K?	6
Householding of Annual Meeting Materials	6
SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT	7
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance	9
PROPOSAL 1 ELECTION OF DIRECTORS	10
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE	13
General Control Contro	13
Director Independence	13
Director Nomination Process	13
Board of Directors Meetings and Committees	14
Audit Committee	14
Compensation Committee	15
Nominating and Governance Committee	15
Board Leadership Structure and Role in Risk Oversight	16
Communicating with the Independent Directors	16
Code of Conduct and Ethics	17
Report of the Audit Committee	17
CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS	18
Policies and Procedures for Related Party Transactions	18
Special Cash Dividend and Registered Sale of Shares	18
Shareholder Agreement	19
Master Services Agreement with Carnation Auto	19
Employment Relationship	19
INFORMATION ABOUT EXECUTIVE OFFICERS	20
Background Information	20

i

## Table of Contents

	Page
INFORMATION ABOUT EXECUTIVE AND DIRECTOR COMPENSATION	21
Compensation Discussion and Analysis	21
2012 Summary Compensation Table	29
2012 Grants of Plan-Based Awards	31
Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and Grant of Plan-Based Awards Table	32
2012 Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year End	35
2012 Option Exercises and Stock Vested	36
2012 Pension Benefits	37
Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change of Control	37
Employment Agreements with Named Executive Officers	37
Company Stock Plans	37
Termination and Change of Control Potential Payments and Benefits Table	39
DIRECTOR COMPENSATION	41
<u>Overview</u>	41
Compensation Committee Report	43
Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation	43
Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans	43
PROPOSAL 2 RATIFICATION OF SELECTION OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM	44
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Fees and Other Matters	44
OTHER MATTERS	45
FI ECTRONIC SURMISSION OF PROYIES FOR VOTING	15

ii

#### GENPACT LIMITED

Canon s Court

22 Victoria Street

Hamilton, HM 12

Bermuda

#### PROXY STATEMENT FOR ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

May 8, 2013

This proxy statement contains information about the 2013 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of Genpact Limited, which we refer to in this proxy statement as the annual meeting or the meeting. The annual meeting will be held on Wednesday May 8, 2013, at Devonshire House, Mayfair Place, London, W1J 8AJ United Kingdom. The annual meeting will commence at 10 a.m. local time.

This proxy statement is furnished by the board of directors of Genpact Limited, which is also referred to as Genpact or the Company in this proxy statement, in connection with the solicitation of proxies for use at the annual meeting and at any adjournment of the annual meeting. All proxies will be voted in accordance with the instructions they contain. If no instruction is specified on a proxy, it will be voted in accordance with the recommendation of our board of directors. The board of directors recommends that you vote FOR Proposals 1 and 2. A shareholder may revoke any proxy at any time before it is exercised by giving our Secretary written notice to that effect either before or at the annual meeting by signing and submitting another proxy with a later date or by attending the meeting in person and voting such holder s shares.

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012 is being mailed to shareholders with the Notice of 2013 Annual General Meeting and this proxy statement on or about April 12, 2013.

A copy of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012 as filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the SEC), except for exhibits, will be furnished without charge to any shareholder upon written request to us c/o Genpact LLC, 105 Madison Avenue, 2nd Floor, New York 10016, Attention: Corporate Secretary.

#### IMPORTANT INFORMATION ABOUT THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND VOTING

What is the purpose of the annual meeting?

At the annual meeting, shareholders will consider and act on the following matters:

- 1. To elect ten (10) directors to hold office until the next annual election and until their successors are duly elected and qualified.
- 2. To ratify and approve the appointment of KPMG as our independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2013.
- 3. To transact such other business as may properly come before the annual meeting or any adjournment thereof.

Who can vote?

To be able to vote, you must have been a shareholder of record at the close of business on March 8, 2013. This date is the record date for the annual meeting.

Shareholders of record at the close of business on March 8, 2013 are entitled to vote on each proposal at the annual meeting. The number of outstanding common shares entitled to vote on each proposal at the meeting is 227,225,620.

1

#### How many votes do I have?

Each common share of Genpact that you owned on the record date entitles you to one vote on each matter that is voted on at the annual meeting.

#### Is my vote important?

Your vote is important regardless of how many common shares you own. Please take the time to read the instructions below and vote. Choose the way to vote that is easiest and most convenient for you and submit your proxy so your vote is cast as soon as possible.

#### How do I vote?

If you are a record holder of Genpact shares, you may deliver your proxy to vote your shares in one of the following ways or you may vote in person at the annual meeting. If you hold your shares in street name, refer to the information below on how to vote your shares.

You may submit your proxy to vote by mail. You may vote by completing and signing the proxy card that accompanies this proxy statement and promptly mailing it in the enclosed postage-prepaid envelope. You do not need to put a stamp on the enclosed envelope if you mail it in the United States. The shares you own will be voted according to the instructions on the proxy card you mail. If you sign and return the proxy card, but do not give any instructions on a particular matter to be voted on as described in this proxy statement, the shares you own will be voted in accordance with the recommendations of our board of directors. The board of directors recommends that you vote **FOR** Proposals 1 and 2.

You may submit your proxy to vote over the Internet. If you have Internet access, you may submit your proxy to vote your shares from any location in the world by following the Electronic Voting Instructions set forth on the enclosed proxy card.

You may vote in person. If you attend the meeting at the location set forth in the accompanying Notice of 2013 Annual General Meeting, you may vote by delivering your completed proxy card in person or you may vote by completing a ballot. Ballots will be available at the meeting. If you attend the meeting in person you will need to bring an acceptable form of photo identification, such as a driver s license or passport.

Can I change my vote after I have mailed my proxy card or after I have submitted my proxy to vote my shares over the Internet?

Yes. You can revoke your proxy and change your vote at any time before the polls close at the meeting by doing any one of the following things:

signing and delivering another proxy with a later date to our Corporate Secretary, c/o Genpact LLC, 105 Madison Avenue, 2<sup>nd</sup> Floor, New York, New York 10016 USA;

submitting another proxy to vote with a later date over the Internet;

giving our Corporate Secretary written notice before or at the meeting that you want to revoke your proxy; or

voting in person at the meeting.

Your attendance at the meeting alone will not revoke your proxy.

Can I vote if my shares are held in street name?

If the shares you own are held in street name by a bank or brokerage firm, your bank or brokerage firm, as the record holder of your shares, is required to vote your shares according to your instructions. In order to vote your shares, you will need to follow the directions your bank or brokerage firm provides you. Many banks and brokerage firms also offer the option of voting over the Internet or by telephone, instructions for which would be provided by your bank or brokerage firm on your vote instruction form.

2

If your shares are held in street name, you must bring an account statement or letter from your brokerage firm or bank showing that you are the beneficial owner of the shares as of the record date in order to be admitted to the meeting on May 8, 2013. To be able to vote your shares held in street name at the meeting, you will need to obtain a proxy card from the holder of record.

#### What is a broker non-vote?

Generally, a broker non-vote occurs when a broker, bank or other nominee that holds shares in street name for customers is precluded from exercising voting discretion on a particular proposal because (1) the beneficial owner has not instructed the nominee how to vote, and (2) the nominee lacks discretionary voting power to vote such shares. Under New York Stock Exchange ( NYSE ) rules, a nominee does not have discretionary voting power with respect to the approval of non-routine matters absent specific voting instructions from the beneficial owners of such shares.

All proposals other than the ratification of KPMG as the Company s independent registered public accountants for fiscal year 2013 are non-routine matters and, therefore, shares of our common stock held in street name will not be voted with respect to these proposals without voting instructions from the beneficial owners. You should follow the instructions provided by your nominee in directing your nominee on how to vote your shares.

#### What constitutes a quorum?

In order for business to be conducted at the annual meeting with respect to a particular matter, a quorum must be present for that particular matter. For each of the proposals described in the accompanying Notice of 2013 Annual General Meeting, we will have a quorum if at least two shareholders are present in person or by proxy who hold or represent more than 50 percent of the outstanding shares entitled to vote, or at least 113,612,811 shares. Common shares represented in person or by proxy (including broker non-votes and shares that abstain or do not vote with respect to a particular proposal to be voted upon) will be counted for the purpose of determining whether a quorum exists at the annual meeting for that proposal. Broker non-votes are shares that are held in street name by a bank or brokerage firm that indicates on its proxy that it does not have discretionary authority to vote on a particular matter.

If a quorum is not present, the annual meeting will be adjourned until a quorum is obtained.

#### What vote is required for each item?

For each of the proposals being considered at the annual meeting, approval of the proposal requires the affirmative vote of a simple majority of the votes cast. There is no cumulative voting in the election of directors. The election of each director nominee will be considered and voted upon as a separate proposal. Abstentions and broker non-votes are not counted as votes cast and will not affect the voting results on any proposals. If the proposal for the election of a director nominee does not receive the required majority of the votes cast, then the director will not be elected and the position on the board of directors that would have been filled by the director nominee will become vacant. The board of directors has the ability to fill any vacancy upon the recommendation of its nominating and governance committee.

#### How will votes be counted?

Each common share will be counted as one vote according to the instructions contained on a properly completed proxy, whether submitted by mail, over the Internet, or on a ballot voted in person at the annual meeting. Shares will not be voted in respect of a proposal if either (1) the shareholder abstains from voting on a particular matter, or (2) the shares are broker non-votes. If the shareholder signs and submits but does not indicate voting instructions on the proxy card, the proxies will have the authority to vote in respect of all proposals.

3

Who will count the votes?

An independent vote tabulator will count the votes. Computershare has been appointed by the board of directors as the independent Inspector of Election and will determine the existence of a quorum and validity of proxies and ballots, and certify the results of the voting.

How does the board of directors recommend that I vote on the proposals?

The board of directors recommends that you vote:

FOR the election of the ten directors listed under Proposal 1 to hold office until the next annual election and until their successors are duly elected; and

**FOR** the ratification and approval of the appointment of KPMG as our independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2013.

Will any other business be conducted at the meeting or will other matters be voted on?

The board of directors does not know of any other matters that may properly come before the meeting. If any other matter properly comes before the meeting, the persons named in the proxy card that accompanies this proxy statement, whether you submit your proxy by mail or through the Internet, will exercise their judgment in deciding how to vote, or otherwise act, at the meeting with respect to that matter or proposal.

Where can I find the voting results?

We will report the voting results in a current report on Form 8-K within four business days of the 2013 annual meeting.

How and when may I submit a shareholder proposal, including a shareholder nomination for director, for the 2014 annual general meeting?

Our bye-laws contain advance notice procedures with regard to shareholder proposals not related to director nominations. If you are interested in submitting a proposal for inclusion in the proxy statement for the 2014 annual general meeting, you need to follow the procedures outlined in Rule 14a-8 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or the Exchange Act. To be eligible for inclusion, we must receive your shareholder proposal intended for inclusion in the proxy statement for our 2014 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders at the New York City address set forth below no later than December 13, 2013.

Bermuda law provides that shareholders who collectively hold at least 5% of the total voting rights of our outstanding common shares, or any group comprised of at least 100 or more registered shareholders, may require a proposal to be submitted to an annual general meeting of shareholders. Bermuda law generally requires that notice of such a proposal must be deposited at our registered office not less than six weeks before the date of the meeting.

A shareholder s notice to our corporate secretary must be in proper written form and must set forth, as to each matter the shareholder proposes to bring before the meeting:

a description of the business desired to be brought before the meeting, the text of the proposal or business (including the text of any resolutions proposed for consideration and if such business includes a proposal to amend our bye-laws, the language of the proposed amendment), the reasons for conducting the business at the meeting and any material interest in such business of such shareholder on whose behalf the proposal is made;

the name and record address of the shareholder;

the class and number of shares of our share capital which are owned and of record by the shareholder;

4

a representation that the shareholder is a holder of record of our shares entitled to vote at the meeting and that the shareholder intends to appear in person or by proxy at the meeting to propose such business; and

a representation as to whether the shareholder intends or is part of a group which intends to deliver a proxy statement or form of proxy to holders of at least the percentage of our outstanding share capital required to approve or adopt the business proposal, or otherwise to solicit proxies from shareholders in support of such proposal.

Our bye-laws also contain advance notice procedures with regard to shareholder proposals related to the nomination of candidates for election as directors. These procedures provide that any shareholder may nominate persons for election as directors only if written notice of such shareholder s intent to make such nomination is given to our corporate secretary not less than 120 days nor more than 150 days prior to the date of the proxy statement released to shareholders in connection with the prior year s annual meeting.

A shareholder s notice to our corporate secretary must be in proper written form and must set forth information related to the shareholder giving the notice and the owner on whose behalf the nomination is made, including:

the name and record address of the shareholder and the owner;

the class and number of shares of our share capital which are owned and of record by the shareholder;

a representation that the shareholder is a holder of record of our shares entitled to vote at that meeting and that the shareholder intends to appear in person or by proxy at the meeting to bring the nomination before the meeting; and

a representation as to whether the shareholder intends or is part of a group which intends to deliver a proxy statement or form of proxy to holders of at least the percentage of our outstanding share capital required to elect the nominee, or otherwise to solicit proxies from shareholders in support of such nomination.

As to each person whom the shareholder proposes to nominate for election as a director:

all information relating to the person that would be required to be disclosed in a proxy statement or other filings required to be made in connection with solicitations of proxies for election of directors pursuant to the Exchange Act; and

the nominee s written consent to being named in the proxy statement as a nominee and to serving as a director if elected. Any proposals, nominations or notices should be sent to:

Genpact LLC

105 Madison Avenue, 2nd Floor

New York, New York 10016

Attention: Corporate Secretary

What are the costs of soliciting these proxies?

We will bear the costs of solicitation of proxies. We are initially soliciting these proxies by mail, but our directors, officers and selected other employees may also solicit proxies by telephone, e-mail or other means of communication without additional remuneration. Directors, officers and employees who help us in solicitation of proxies will not be specially compensated for those services, but they may be reimbursed for their reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with their solicitation. Brokers, custodians and fiduciaries will be requested to forward proxy soliciting material to the owners of our common shares that they hold in their names. We will reimburse banks and brokers for their reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with the distribution of our proxy materials.

#### Will the 2012 financial statements be presented to the annual meeting?

Yes. At the annual meeting we will present the audited consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, as required by Bermuda law. Copies of these financial statements are included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K, which we are delivering to you with this proxy statement.

#### How can I obtain an Annual Report on Form 10-K?

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012 is available on our website at www.genpact.com. If you would like a copy of our Annual Report on Form 10-K, we will send you one without exhibits at no charge. Please contact:

Genpact LLC

105 Madison Avenue, 2nd Floor

New York, New York 10016

Attention: Corporate Secretary

Our website address is provided for convenience only. We are not including the information on our website, or any information which may be linked through our website, as a part of this proxy statement, nor is it incorporated herein.

#### **Householding of Annual Meeting Materials**

Some banks, brokers and other nominee record holders may participate in the practice of householding proxy statements and annual reports. This means that only one copy of our proxy statement may have been sent to multiple shareholders in your household. We will promptly deliver a separate copy of either document to you if you contact us at: Genpact LLC, 105 Madison Avenue, 2<sup>nd</sup> Floor, New York, New York 10016, Attention: Corporate Secretary, or by telephone at (646) 624-5900. If you want to receive separate copies of the proxy statement in the future, or if you are receiving multiple copies and would like to receive only one copy per household, you should contact your bank, broker, or other nominee record holder, or you may contact us at the above address or by telephone at (646) 624-5900.

6

#### SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table contains information regarding the beneficial ownership of our common shares as of March 8, 2013 by:

each shareholder we know to own beneficially more than 5% of our outstanding common shares;

each director;

each executive officer named in the 2012 Summary Compensation Table under the heading 

Information about Executive and Director Compensation 
and

all of our directors and executive officers as a group.

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC and includes voting or investment power with respect to the securities. Common shares subject to options that are currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of March 8, 2013 are deemed to be outstanding and beneficially owned by the person holding such options. Such shares, however, are not deemed to be outstanding for the purposes of computing the percentage ownership of any other person. Percentage of beneficial ownership is based on 227,225,620 common shares of Genpact Limited outstanding on March 8, 2013.

Name of Beneficial Owner(2)	Number of Shares Beneficially Owned(1)	Percentage of Outstanding Shares
Certain Beneficial Owners:	`,	
Glory Investments A Limited(3)	57,537,264	25.32
Wellington Management Company, LLP(4)	27,948,357	12.30
Capital Group(5)	22,112,675	9.73
Brown Advisory Incorporated (6)	13,148,524	5.79
William Blair & Company, LLC(7)	11,827,500	5.21
Directors and Executive Officers:		
N.V. Tyagarajan(8)	1,184,766	*
Mohit Bhatia(9)	209,287	*
Patrick Cogny(10)	166,537	*
Piyush Mehta(11)	144,151	*
Arvinder Singh(12)	142,279	*
John Barter (13)	117,906	*
Amit Chandra(3)	57,537,264	25.32
David Humphrey(3)	57,537,264	25.32
Jagdish Khattar(14)	111,412	*
James C. Madden(15)	20,421	*
Mark Nunnelly(3)	57,537,264	25.32
Robert G. Scott(16)	123,025	*
A. Michael Spence(17)	20,421	*
Mark Verdi(3)	57,537,264	25.32
Current Directors and Executive Officers as a group (17 persons)(18)	2,698,183	1.19

<sup>\*</sup> Shares represent less than 1% of outstanding common shares.

- (1) Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC and includes voting and/or investment power with respect to the shares shown as beneficially owned.
- (2) Unless noted otherwise, the business address of each beneficial owner is c/o Genpact Limited, Canon s Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton, HM 12, Bermuda.
- (3) Based solely on a Schedule 13D filed with the SEC on November 5, 2012. The common shares included in this table consist of: (1) 16,022,978 common shares held by Glory Investments A Limited ( Glory A ),

7

whose Class A shareholder is Bain Capital Partners Asia II, L.P., whose general partner is Bain Capital Investors, LLC ( BCI ), (2) 39,508,656 common shares held by Glory Investments B Limited ( Glory B ), whose Class A shareholder is Bain Capital Partners X, L.P., whose general partner is BCI, (3) 1,865,184 common shares held by Glory Investments IV Limited (Glory IV), whose Class A shareholder is BCIP Associates IV, L.P., whose general partner is BCI, and (4) 140,446 common shares held by Glory Investments IV-B Limited (Glory IV-B), whose Class A shareholder is BCIP Associates IV-B, L.P., whose general partner is BCI. Glory A, Glory B, Glory IV and Glory IV-B (collectively, the Glory Entities ) and Glory Investments TA IV Limited (Glory TA IV) are party to an amended and restated shareholders agreement and an investor agreement, each dated October 25, 2012, pursuant to which Glory TA IV was appointed as representative of the investors named therein for matters relating to the voting and disposition of the common shares. BCI is the Class A shareholder of Glory TA IV. Voting and investment determinations with respect to the common shares held by the Glory Entities are made by an investment committee comprised of the following managing directors of BCI: Andrew Balson, Steven Barnes, Joshua Bekenstein, Louis Bremer, John Connaughton, Todd Cook, Paul Edgerley, Christopher Gordon, Blair Hendrix, Jordan Hitch, David Humphrey, John Kilgallon, Lew Klessel, Matthew Levin, Ian Loring, Philip Loughlin, Seth Meisel, Mark Nunnelly, Stephen Pagliuca, Ian Reynolds, Mark Verdi and Stephen Zide. As a result, and by virtue of the relationships described in this footnote, the investment committee of BCI may be deemed to exercise voting and dispositive power with respect to the common shares held by the Glory Entities. Each of the members of the investment committee of BCI disclaims beneficial ownership of such common shares. The business address of each of the Glory Entities is c/o Glory Investments TA IV Limited, 6th Floor Altima Building, Ebene Cybercity, Ebene, Mauritius, and the business address of BCI is c/o Bain Capital Investors, LLC, John Hancock Tower, 200 Clarendon Street, Boston, MA 02116.

- (4) Based solely on a Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 14, 2013. The business address of Wellington Management Company, LLP is 280 Congress Street, Boston, Massachusetts 02210.
- (5) Based solely on a Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 12, 2013. Includes 14,857,119 common shares beneficially owned by Capital Group International, Inc. and 7,255,556 common shares beneficially owned by Capital International, Inc. The business address of Capital Group International, Inc. and Capital International, Inc. is 11100 Santa Monica Boulevard, Los Angeles, CA 90025.
- (6) Based solely on a Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 4, 2013. The business address of Brown Advisory Incorporated is 901 South Bond Street, Ste. 400, Baltimore, MD 21231.
- (7) Based solely on a Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 7, 2013. The business address of William Blair & Company, LLC is 222 West Adams Street, Chicago, IL 60606.
- (8) This amount includes options to purchase 1,108,986 common shares owned by Mr. Tyagarajan that are exercisable within 60 days and 75,780 common shares held directly by Mr. Tyagarajan.
- (9) This amount includes options to purchase 191,484 common shares owned by Mr. Bhatia that are exercisable within 60 days and 17,803 common shares held directly by Mr. Bhatia
- (10) This amount includes options to purchase 157,343 common shares owned by Mr. Cogny that are exercisable within 60 days and 9,194 common shares held directly by Mr. Cogny.
- (11) This amount includes options to purchase 125,639 common shares owned by Mr. Mehta that are exercisable within 60 days and 18,512 common shares held directly by Mr. Mehta.

- (12) This amount includes options to purchase 119,632 common shares owned by Mr. Singh that are exercisable within 60 days and 22,647 common shares held directly by Mr. Singh.
- (13) This amount includes options to purchase 97,485 common shares owned by Mr. Barter that are exercisable within 60 days, 13,614 common shares held directly by Mr. Barter and 6,807 vested restricted share units.
- (14) This amount includes options to purchase 92,353 common shares owned by Mr. Khattar that are exercisable within 60 days, 12,252 common shares held directly by Mr. Khattar and 6,807 vested restricted share units.
- (15) This amount includes 13,614 common shares held directly by Mr. Madden and 6,807 vested restricted share units.

8

- (16) This amount includes options to purchase 92,353 common shares owned by Mr. Scott that are exercisable within 60 days, 13,614 common shares held directly by Mr. Scott and 17,058 vested restricted share units.
- (17) This amount includes 13,614 common shares held directly by Mr. Spence and 6,807 vested restricted share units. On February 15, 2013, Mr. Spence notified the Genpact Limited Board of Directors of his decision not to stand for re-election at the Company s 2013 annual general meeting of shareholders.
- (18) Does not include common shares held by the Glory Entities. Each of Messrs. Humphrey, Nunnelly and Verdi is a Managing Director and serves on the investment committee of BCI and as a result, and by virtue of the relationships described in footnote (3) above, may be deemed to share beneficial ownership of the common shares held by the Glory Entities. The business address of each of Messrs. Humphrey, Nunnelly and Verdi is c/o Bain Capital Investors, LLC, John Hancock Tower, 200 Clarendon Street, Boston, MA 02116. Mr. Chandra is a Managing Director of Bain Capital Advisors (India) Private Limited. The business address of Mr. Chandra is c/o Bain Capital Advisors (India) Private Limited, 2nd Floor, Free Press House, Nariman Point, Mumbai 400 021, India.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our directors, executive officers and the holders of more than 10% of our common shares to file with the SEC initial reports of ownership of our common shares and other equity securities on a Form 3 and reports of changes in such ownership on a Form 4 or Form 5. Executive officers, directors and 10% shareholders are required by SEC regulations to furnish us with copies of all Section 16(a) forms they file. Based on our review of copies of reports filed with the SEC and except as set forth in the above table, we do not believe that there are currently any beneficial owners of more than ten percent of our common shares.

Based solely on our review of copies of reports filed by our directors and executive officers with the SEC or written representations from such persons pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K, we believe that during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, all filings required to be made by our directors and executive officers pursuant to Section 16(a) with respect to Genpact Limited securities were made in accordance with Section 16(a).

9

#### PROPOSAL 1 ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Our board of directors currently consists of ten members. The nominating and governance committee of the board of directors has recommended to the board of directors, and the board of directors has nominated, the ten persons listed in the table below for election as directors with terms expiring at the 2014 annual meeting. Unless a contrary direction is indicated, it is intended that proxies received will be voted for the election as directors of the ten nominees, each to serve for a one-year term until their successors are elected or the incumbent resigns. Each of the nominees has consented to being named in this Proxy Statement and to serve as a director if elected. In the event any nominee for director declines or is unable to serve, there will be a vacancy created on the board of directors, which the board of directors may fill on the recommendation of the nominating and governance committee.

The following paragraphs provide information as of the date of this proxy statement about each nominee for election to our board of directors.

The information presented includes information each nominee has given us about his or her age, all positions he or she holds, his or her principal occupation and business experience for the past five years, and the names of other publicly-held companies of which he or she has served as a director in the past five years. The information presented below reflects the specific experience, qualifications, attributes and skills that led the board to conclude that each of these individuals is well-suited to serve on our board. Information about the number of common shares beneficially owned by each current director appears under the heading Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management.

There are no family relationships among any of the directors and executive officers of Genpact. Messrs. Chandra, Humphrey, Nunnelly and Verdi serve on our board as designees of Glory Investments A Limited, an affiliate of Bain Capital Investors, LLC, or Bain Capital, pursuant to the shareholder agreement described in Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions Shareholder Agreement. Other than such arrangement, no arrangements or understandings exist between any director or any person nominated for election as a director and any other person pursuant to which such person is to be selected as a director or nominee for election as a director.

Name	Age	Position(s)
N.V. Tyagarajan	52	President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
Robert G. Scott	67	Chairman
John Barter	66	Director
Amit Chandra	44	Director
Laura Conigliaro	67	Director
David Humphrey	35	Director
Jagdish Khattar	70	Director
James Madden	51	Director
Mark Nunnelly	54	Director
Mark Verdi	46	Director

*N.V. Tyagarajan* has served as our President and Chief Executive Officer since June 2011. From February 2009 to June 2011, he was our Chief Operating Officer. From February 2005 to February 2009, he was our Executive Vice President and Head of Sales, Marketing & Business Development. Mr. Tyagarajan became one of our directors in June 2011. The board concluded that Mr. Tyagarajan is well suited to serve as a director because of his extensive knowledge of our industry and our business and because he is the Chief Executive Officer.

Robert G. Scott became one of our directors in April 2006 and was appointed as our Board Chairman on March 7, 2011. From 2001 to 2003, he served as President and Chief Operating Officer at Morgan Stanley. He also serves as an advisory director at Morgan Stanley and since January 2010 he has been a director of NYSE Euronext. The board concluded that Mr. Scott is well suited to serve as a director and the chairman of our board

10

because of his experience as the Chief Operating Officer of Morgan Stanley and his experience serving on another public company board.

John W. Barter became one of our directors in July 2005. From 2000 to 2001, he served as the Chief Financial Officer and a Director of Kestrel Solutions, Inc., a privately-owned company established to develop and bring to market a new product in the telecommunications industry. Kestrel Solutions, Inc. filed a voluntary petition for bankruptcy in 2002. From 1994 to 1997, he was the Executive Vice President of Allied Signal, Inc. and President of Allied Signal Automotive. He is also a director on the board of Dice Holdings, Inc. He was a director on the boards of Lenovo Group Limited from 2005 to 2010 and SRA International, Inc. from 2003 to 2011. The board concluded that Mr. Barter is well suited to serve as a director because of his experience as the Executive Vice President of a public company and his experience serving on the audit committees of other public companies.

Amit Chandra became one of our directors in October 2012. He is a Managing Director of Bain Capital Advisors and founded its Indian office early in 2008. Prior to joining Bain Capital, he was a Board Member and Managing Director responsible for Global Markets and Investment Banking at DSP Merrill Lynch, a leading investment bank in India, from which he retired in 2007 after 13 years. Mr. Chandra also serves on the Boards of Directors of Tata Investment Corporation and Piramal Enterprises. The board concluded that Mr. Chandra is well suited to serve as a director because of his experience on the boards of public companies in India.

Laura Conigliaro is a nominee for election to our board. In 2011, she retired as a partner of Goldman Sachs, which she joined in 1996. At Goldman Sachs she served most recently as the co-director of the firm s Americas Equity Research unit, prior to which she was the firm s Technology Equity Research business unit leader while also serving as an analyst covering the hardware systems sector. From 1979 to 1996, Ms. Conigliaro was an analyst at Prudential Securities. Ms. Conigliaro also serves on the boards of directors of Arista Networks, Dell Inc. and Infoblox Inc. The board concluded that Ms. Conigliaro is well suited to serve as a director because of her service on other public company boards and her extensive knowledge of the financial services and technology industries.

David Humphrey became one of our directors in October 2012. Mr. Humphrey is a Managing Director in the Private Equity group of Bain Capital, where he has been since 2001. Prior to joining Bain Capital, Mr. Humphrey was an investment banker in the mergers and acquisitions group at Lehman Brothers from 1999 to 2001. Mr. Humphrey also serves on the boards of directors of Bloomin Brands, Inc., Bright Horizons Family Solutions, Inc. and Skillsoft plc. The board concluded that Mr. Humphrey is well suited to serve as a director because of his experience on other public company boards.

Jagdish Khattar became one of our directors in June 2007. He has been the Chairman and Managing Director of Carnation Auto India Pvt. Ltd. since January 2008. From 1999 to 2007, he was the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of Maruti Udyog Limited, a publicly listed automobile manufacturer in India. The board concluded that Mr. Khattar is well suited to serve as a director because of his experience running a large company in India.

James C. Madden became one of our directors in January 2005. He currently serves as co-Founder and Managing Director of Carrick Capital Partners. Prior to Carrick, he was the Founder and Managing Partner of Madden Capital Partners, LLC. From January 2007 to February 2011, he served as a General Partner at Accretive LLC, a private equity firm. From 2005 to January 2007, he was a Special Advisor to General Atlantic LLC, a private equity firm. From 1998 to 2004, he was the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Exult, Inc. He is also a director on the board of ServiceSource International, Inc. The board concluded that Mr. Madden is well suited to serve as a director because of his extensive experience in our industry.

Mark Nunnelly became one of our directors in October 2012. Mark Nunnelly is a Managing Director at Bain Capital, where he has been since 1989. Prior to joining Bain Capital, Mr. Nunnelly was a partner of Bain & Company, with experience in the domestic, Asian and European strategy practices. Mr. Nunnelly currently sits on the Boards of Directors of Dunkin Brands and Bloomin Brands Inc. The board concluded that Mr. Nunnelly is well suited to serve as a director because of his experience on other public company boards.

11

*Mark Verdi* became one of our directors in October 2012. Mr. Verdi is a Managing Director at Bain Capital, where he has been since 2004. Prior to Bain Capital, Mr. Verdi worked at IBM Global Services, where he led the Financial Services Business Transformation Outsourcing Group globally. The board concluded that Mr. Verdi is well suited to serve as a director because of his extensive experience in our industry.

#### **Board Recommendation**

The board of directors believes that approval of the election of all nominees is in our best interests and the best interests of our shareholders and therefore recommends a vote FOR these nominees.

12

#### CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

#### General

We believe that good corporate governance is important to ensure that Genpact is managed for the long-term benefit of its shareholders. The board of directors has adopted corporate governance guidelines to assist the board of directors in the exercise of its duties and responsibilities and to serve the best interests of our Company and our shareholders. These guidelines, which provide a framework for the conduct of the board of director s business, provide, among other things, that:

the principal responsibility of the directors is to exercise their business judgment to promote the long-term interests of the Company s shareholders by providing strategic direction to the Company and overseeing management in the performance of the Company s business activities:

additional responsibilities include reviewing, approving and monitoring significant financial and business strategies as developed by management, evaluating the performance of the Company and its executive officers, approving CEO succession plans and reviewing and approving material transactions and corporate activities not entered into in the ordinary course of business;

a majority of the members of the board of directors shall be independent directors;

the independent directors shall meet at least twice a year in executive session;

directors shall have full and free access to management and, as necessary and appropriate, independent advisors; and

at least annually, the nominating and governance committee shall oversee a self-evaluation of the board of directors to determine whether the board of directors and its committees are functioning effectively.

You can access the current charters for our audit committee, compensation committee and nominating and governance committee, our Corporate Governance Guidelines and our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics at <a href="https://www.genpact.com">www.genpact.com</a> or we will send you a copy upon request in writing to:

Genpact LLC

105 Madison Avenue, 2<sup>nd</sup> Floor

New York, New York 10016

Attention: Corporate Secretary

#### **Director Independence**

Pursuant to the corporate governance listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange ( NYSE ), a director employed by us cannot be deemed to be an independent director, and consequently Mr. Tyagarajan is not an independent director. The board has determined that none of the other current directors has a material relationship with us for purposes of the NYSE corporate governance listing standards and accordingly each is

independent under such NYSE standards. In making its independence determinations, the board considered the relationship between our Company and Bain Capital, as an affiliate of Bain Capital owns approximately 25% of our outstanding common shares, the fact that Messrs. Chandra, Humphrey, Nunnelly and Verdi serve on our board as designees of Bain Capital pursuant to the terms of the shareholder agreement and the fact that Messrs. Chandra, Humphrey, Nunnelly and Verdi are managing partners of Bain Capital.

#### **Director Nomination Process**

In considering whether to recommend any particular candidate for inclusion in the board of directors—slate of recommended director nominees, the nominating and governance committee applies the criteria set forth in our Corporate Governance Guidelines. These criteria include the candidate—s integrity, knowledge of our business and industry, experience, diligence, absence of any conflicts of interest and the ability to act in the interests of all shareholders. The committee does not assign specific weights to particular criteria and no particular criterion is a prerequisite for each prospective nominee. We believe that the backgrounds and qualifications of our directors, considered as a group, should provide a composite mix of experience, knowledge and abilities that will allow the

13

board of directors to fulfill its responsibilities. We do not have a formal or informal diversity policy for board membership, but the nominating and governance committee is committed to considering diversity in accordance with its charter.

Shareholders may recommend individuals to the nominating and governance committee for consideration as potential director candidates by submitting their names, together with appropriate biographical information and background materials and a statement as to whether the shareholder or group of shareholders making the recommendation has beneficially owned more than 5% of our common shares for at least a year as of the date such recommendation is made, to the nominating and governance committee, c/o Genpact LLC, 105 Madison Avenue, 2<sup>nd</sup> Floor, New York, NY 10016. Assuming that appropriate biographical and background material has been provided on a timely basis, the committee will evaluate shareholder-recommended candidates by following substantially the same process, and applying substantially the same criteria, as it follows for candidates submitted by others.

#### **Board of Directors Meetings and Committees**

The board of directors has responsibility for establishing broad corporate policies and reviewing our overall performance rather than day-to-day operations. The board of directors primary responsibility is to oversee the management of Genpact and, in so doing, serve the best interests of the Company. Subject to the recommendations of the nominating and governance committee, the board of directors selects, evaluates and provides for the succession of executive officers and the board of directors nominates for election at annual general shareholder meetings individuals to serve as directors of Genpact and elects individuals to fill any vacancies on the board of directors to the extent not filled by shareholders in general meetings. It reviews and approves corporate objectives and strategies, and evaluates significant policies and proposed major commitments of corporate resources. Management keeps the directors informed of Company activity through presentations at board of directors and committee meetings.

The board of directors met, in person or telephonically, nineteen times in fiscal 2012. During fiscal 2012, except for Mr. Spence, each of our directors attended 75% or more of the total number of meetings of the board of directors and the committees of which such director was a member during the period of time he served on such committee. The board of directors has standing audit, compensation and nominating and governance committees. Each committee has a charter that has been approved by the board of directors. Each committee must review the appropriateness of its charter and perform a self-evaluation at least annually. Mr. Tyagarajan is the only director who is an employee of Genpact and he does not participate in any meeting at which his compensation is evaluated. All members of all committees are non-employee directors and the board of directors has determined that all of the members of our three standing committees are independent as defined under the rules of the NYSE, and, in the case of all members of the audit committee, the independence requirements contemplated by Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act.

Our Corporate Governance Guidelines set forth our policy that directors are expected to attend annual general meetings of shareholders. All of our directors standing for re-election attended the 2012 annual meeting.

Audit Committee. The audit committee has responsibility for, among other things:

appointing, approving the compensation of, and assessing the independence of our registered public accounting firm;

overseeing:

the performance of any registered public accounting firm employed by us to provide audit services, including the firm s qualifications and independence;

the quality and integrity of our accounting and reporting practices and controls, including our financial statements and reports;

the performance of our internal audit function; and

our compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

14

preparing an audit committee report as required by the SEC to be included in our annual proxy statement;

reporting regularly to our full board of directors with respect to any issues raised by the foregoing; and

investigating any matter brought to its attention within the scope of its duties and retaining counsel for this purpose where appropriate. Our audit committee consists of Messrs. Barter, Khattar, Madden and Scott. The board of directors intends to appoint Ms. Conigliaro to the audit committee if she is elected to the board. Mr. Barter has been determined to be an audit committee financial expert, as such term is defined in Item 407(d)(5) of Regulation S-K, and to have accounting or related financial management expertise as required by the NYSE listing standards. The audit committee met nine times during fiscal 2012.

Compensation Committee. Our compensation committee has responsibility for, among other things:

reviewing our compensation practices and policies, including equity benefit plans;

reviewing and approving performance and compensation for our chief executive officer, chairman of the board of directors, senior executives and directors:

reviewing and consulting with our chief executive officer concerning selection of officers, performance of individual executives and related matters:

reviewing and discussing the management disclosures in our Compensation Discussion and Analysis and recommending to the board whether such disclosures shall be included in the appropriate regulatory filing;

overseeing our stock plans, incentive compensation plans and any such plans that the board may from time to time adopt and exercising all the powers, duties and responsibilities of the board of directors with respect to such plans;

preparing a compensation committee report for inclusion in our proxy statement;

selecting and retaining a compensation consultant and outside advisors to provide independent advice to the committee; and

reporting regularly to our full board of directors with respect to any issues raised by the foregoing.

Our compensation committee consists of Messrs. Nunnelly, Scott and Spence. The compensation committee met four times during fiscal 2012.

For additional information about the compensation committee s processes and procedures with respect to the consideration and determination of compensation, see Compensation Discussion and Analysis below.

Nominating and Governance Committee. Our nominating and governance committee has responsibility for, among other things:

making recommendations as to the size, composition, structure, operations, performance and effectiveness of our board of directors;

establishing criteria and qualifications for membership on our board of directors and its committees;

assessing and recommending to our board of directors strong and capable candidates qualified to serve on our board of directors and its committees;

developing and recommending to our board of directors a set of corporate governance principles, including independence standards;

conducting an annual review and evaluation of our chief executive officer, our board of directors and our board committees;

overseeing the succession plans for our chief executive officer and senior management;

15

otherwise taking a leadership role in shaping our corporate governance; and

reporting regularly to our full board of directors with respect to any issues raised by the foregoing. Our nominating and governance committee consists of Messrs. Chandra, Madden and Scott. The nominating and governance committee met once during fiscal 2012.

#### **Board Leadership Structure and Role in Risk Oversight**

The positions of chairman of the board and Chief Executive Officer have historically been separated at Genpact. Separating these positions allows our Chief Executive Officer to focus on our day-to-day business, while allowing the chairman of the board to lead the board in its exercise of business judgment to promote the long-term interests of our shareholders by providing strategic direction and overseeing management. The Board believes that separating these positions is the appropriate leadership structure for us at this time.

Our management is responsible for risk management on a day-to-day basis. The role of our board and its committees is to oversee the risk management activities of management. The Audit Committee assists the board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities with respect to risk management in the areas of financial reporting, internal controls and compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, and, in accordance with NYSE requirements, discusses policies with respect to risk assessment and risk management. The Compensation Committee assists the board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities with respect to the management of risks arising from our compensation policies and programs. The Nominating and Governance Committee assists the board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities with respect to the management of risks associated with board organization, membership and structure, succession planning for our directors and executive officers, and corporate governance.

#### **Communicating with the Independent Directors**

The board of directors will give appropriate attention to written communications that are submitted by shareholders and other interested parties, and will respond if and as appropriate. The nominating and governance committee, with the assistance of the Company s General Counsel, is primarily responsible for monitoring communications from shareholders and other interested parties and for providing copies or summaries to the other directors as its members consider appropriate. Our non-executive chairman, Mr. Scott, is a member of the nominating and governance committee, a member of the audit committee and also serves as the presiding director at all executive sessions of our non-management directors.

Communications will be forwarded to all directors if they relate to important substantive matters and include suggestions or comments that the nominating and governance committee considers to be important for the directors to know. In general, communications relating to corporate governance and corporate strategy are more likely to be forwarded than communications relating to ordinary business affairs, personal grievances and matters as to which the Company may receive repetitive or duplicative communications.

Shareholders and interested parties who wish to send communications on any topic to the board of directors should address such communications to:

Board of Directors

Genpact Limited

c/o Genpact LLC

105 Madison Avenue, 2nd Floor

New York, New York 10016

Attention: Corporate Secretary

#### **Code of Conduct and Ethics**

Our board of directors has adopted a code of ethical business conduct applicable to our directors, officers and employees in accordance with applicable rules and regulations of the SEC and the New York Stock Exchange. The code of ethics is posted on our web site at www.genpact.com under the heading Investors Corporate Governance. We will also provide a copy of the code of ethics to shareholders upon request. We disclose any material amendments to the code of ethics, as well as any waivers for executive officers or directors, on our web site.

#### Report of the Audit Committee

The audit committee has reviewed our audited consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012 and has discussed these financial statements with our management and independent registered public accounting firm.

The audit committee has also received from, and discussed with, KPMG, our independent registered public accounting firm, various communications that our independent registered public accounting firm is required to provide to the audit committee, including the matters required to be discussed by the Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61, Communication with Audit Committees, as amended.

Our independent registered public accounting firm also provided the audit committee with the written disclosures and the letter required by the applicable requirements of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding the independent registered public accounting firm s communications with the audit committee concerning independence. The audit committee has discussed with the independent registered public accounting firm their independence from Genpact.

Based on its discussions with management and the independent registered public accounting firm, and its review of the information provided by management and the independent registered public accounting firm, the audit committee recommended to our board that the audited consolidated financial statements be included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012.

By the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors

John Barter, Chair Jagdish Khattar James C. Madden Robert G. Scott

17

#### CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

#### **Policies and Procedures for Related Party Transactions**

Our board of directors has adopted written policies and procedures for the review of any transaction, arrangement or relationship in which Genpact Limited is a participant, the amount involved exceeds \$1,000,000 (or such lower threshold as our audit committee may from time to time determine), and one of our officers, directors, director nominees or 5% shareholders (or their immediate family members), each of whom we refer to as a related person, has a direct or indirect material interest.

If a related person proposes to enter into such a transaction, arrangement or relationship, which we refer to as a related person transaction, the related person must report the proposed related person transaction to our General Counsel. The policy calls for the proposed related person transaction to be reviewed and, if deemed appropriate, approved by the board s audit committee. Whenever practicable, the reporting, review and approval will occur prior to entry into the transaction. If advance review and approval is not practicable, the audit committee will review, and, in its discretion, may ratify the related person transaction. The policy also permits the chair of the audit committee to review and, if deemed appropriate, approve proposed related person transactions that arise between committee meetings, subject to ratification by the audit committee at its next meeting. Any related person transactions that are ongoing in nature will be reviewed annually.

A related person transaction reviewed under the policy will be considered approved or ratified if it is authorized by the audit committee after full disclosure of the related person s interest in the transaction. The audit committee will review and consider such information regarding the related person transaction as it deems appropriate under the circumstances.

The audit committee may approve or ratify the transaction only if the audit committee determines that, under all of the circumstances, the transaction is in the Company s best interests. The audit committee may impose any conditions on the related person transaction that it deems appropriate.

In addition to the transactions that are excluded by the instructions to the SEC s related person transaction disclosure rule, the board has determined that the following transactions do not create a material direct or indirect interest on behalf of related persons and, therefore, are not related person transactions for purposes of this policy:

interests arising solely from the related person s position as an executive officer of another entity (whether or not the person is also a director of such entity) that is a participant in the transaction, where (a) the related person and all other related persons own in the aggregate less than a 10% equity interest in such entity, (b) the related person and his or her immediate family members are not involved in the negotiation of the terms of the transaction and do not receive any special benefits as a result of the transaction, (c) the amount involved in the transaction equals less than the greater of \$1 million dollars or 2% of the annual consolidated gross revenues of the other entity that is a party to the transaction, and (d) the amount involved in the transaction equals less than 2% of our annual gross revenues; and a transaction that is specifically contemplated by provisions of our charter or bye-laws.

#### Special Cash Dividend and Registered Sale of Shares

On August 1, 2012, we announced that Glory Investments A Limited, formerly known as South Asia Private Investments and an affiliate of Bain Capital Investors, LLC (Bain Capital) had entered into an agreement to purchase approximately 67.8 million of our common shares from affiliates of our original sponsors, General Atlantic, LLC (General Atlantic) and Oak Hill Capital Partners (Oak Hill) for \$14.76 per share, or approximately \$1.0 billion, after our payment of a special cash dividend of \$2.24 per share. The special cash dividend was declared by our board of directors on August 30, 2012, and paid on September 24, 2012 to holders of record (including affiliates of General Atlantic and Oak Hill) as of September 10, 2012.

On October 25, 2012, as permitted under the share purchase agreement, Bain Capital, its affiliated assignees and two additional co-investors completed the purchase of approximately 67.8 million of our common shares.

In December 2012, certain of our shareholders, consisting of affiliates General Atlantic and Oak Hill, sold approximately 10.9 million of our common shares in an underwritten public offering pursuant to a shelf

18

registration statement that we filed with the SEC, which became effective on March 15, 2010. These selling shareholders agreed to pay all expenses related to the registration of such shares. We did not sell any common shares in, and did not receive any proceeds from, the offering.

### **Shareholder Agreement**

The shareholder agreement among us and certain affiliates of Bain Capital provides that Bain Capital is entitled to nominate four persons to our board of directors so long as it maintains certain minimum shareholding thresholds, and Bain Capital has agreed to vote its shares to elect such persons. The number of directors that Bain Capital is entitled to appoint is reduced if its ownership of our common shares declines below certain levels and such right ceases if such ownership falls below 7.5% of our outstanding common shares.

Subject to certain conditions and with certain exceptions, the shareholder agreement grants Bain Capital the right, beginning on April 25, 2015, to require us to register for public resale under the Securities Act of 1933 all common shares that it requests be registered. In addition, beginning on April 25, 2015, and subject to certain conditions and with certain exceptions, the shareholder agreement grants Bain Capital piggyback rights on any registration for our account or the account of any other holder of our common shares. These rights are subject to certain limitations, including customary cutbacks and other restrictions. In connection with our initial public offering or the other registrations described above, we have and will indemnify any selling shareholders against liabilities resulting from violations of federal or state securities laws by us in connection with any registration statement, prospectus or other disclosure statement used in connection with any registration of our securities and, subject to certain exceptions, we will bear all fees, costs and expenses, except underwriting discounts and selling commissions.

Prior to the one-year anniversary of the date when Bain Capital s ownership of our common shares falls below 7.5%, Bain Capital is subject to certain restrictions with respect to the acquisition of additional securities of, and certain exercises of control over, including making any offers for the purchase of, the Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the shareholder agreement grants Bain Capital the right to maintain its percentage ownership in the event we issue additional securities by purchasing a percentage of any additional securities we issue.

The shareholder agreement also regulates the parties conduct concerning corporate opportunities, and our directors who are affiliated with Bain Capital are not required to present to us corporate opportunities (*e.g.*, acquisitions or new potential clients) of which they become aware.

### **Master Services Agreement with Carnation Auto**

Jagdish Khattar, a director and member of our audit committee, is the Chairman and Managing Director of Carnation Auto India Pvt. Ltd., a private company based in India. Mr. Khattar is also Carnation s majority shareholder. In October 2009, Genpact entered into a 5-year master services agreement with Carnation to provide business process management services. Our revenues from Carnation in 2012 were approximately \$145,000.

### **Employment Relationship**

In November 2011, we hired Shruti Ahuja-Cogny as Vice President, legal process management. Mrs. Ahuja-Cogny has a base salary of \$175,000 and received a 2012 bonus payment of \$75,000. Mrs. Ahuja-Cogny is the wife of Patrick Cogny, our head of infrastructure, manufacturing and services and one of our named executive officers. The compensation committee of our board of directors reviewed and approved this arrangement.

19

#### INFORMATION ABOUT EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

### **Background Information**

Brief biographies of our executive officers follow. You will find information about their beneficial ownership of common shares on page 7 under the caption Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management. All executive officers are appointed by the board of directors. All officers hold office at the discretion of the board.

Name	Age	Position(s)
N.V. Tyagarajan	52	President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
Mohit Bhatia	48	Chief Financial Officer
Patrick Cogny	46	Senior Vice President, Infrastructure, Manufacturing and Services
Victor Guaglianone	58	Senior Vice President and General Counsel
Piyush Mehta	44	Senior Vice President, Human Resources
Arvinder Singh	48	Senior Vice President, Sales and Marketing, Client Relationships and Re-engineering
Mohit Thukral	48	Senior Vice President, Banking, Financial Services, Insurance and Healthcare

*N.V. Tiger Tyagarajan* has served as our President and Chief Executive Officer since June 2011. He was our Chief Operating Officer from February 2009 to June 2011. From February 2005 to February 2009, he was our Executive Vice President and Head of Sales, Marketing & Business Development. From October 2002 to January 2005, he was Senior Vice President, Quality and Global Operations, for GE s Commercial Equipment Finance division. Between 1999 and 2002, he served as our Chief Executive Officer.

Mohit Bhatia has served as our Chief Financial Officer since March 1, 2010. From December 2004 to February 2010 he was the Senior Vice President and Business Leader for our finance and accounting practice. From October 2003 to December 2004 he served as our Chief Financial Officer.

Patrick Cogny has served as our Senior Vice President of Infrastructure, Manufacturing and Services since August 2011. From 2005 to August 2011, he was the Chief Executive Officer of our affiliate Genpact Europe. Prior to this, he spent 15 years working for GE in the Healthcare business and in the GE Europe corporate headquarters, in France, the United States and Belgium.

Victor Guaglianone has served as our Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary since January 2007. Prior to this he was in private practice with several major law firms and also spent 16 years at GE Capital, rising to Vice President and Associate General Counsel.

Piyush Mehta has served as our Senior Vice President of Human Resources since March 2005. He has worked for us since 2001 as Vice President of Human Resources.

Arvinder Monty Singh has served as our Senior Vice President, Sales and Marketing, Client Relationships and Re-engineering since August 2011. From August 2008 until July 2011, he was Global Head of Client Relationships. From June 2005 to August 2008, he was the Business Leader for Lean Six Sigma, Transitions and Solutions. Prior to joining Genpact in June 2005, he was Senior Vice President, Six Sigma and Chief Quality Officer for GE Vendor Financial Services.

*Mohit Thukral* has served as our Senior Vice President, Banking, Financial Services, Insurance and Healthcare since July 2011. From 2004 to July 2011, he served as our Senior Vice President and Business Leader, Banking, Financial Services and Insurance.

#### INFORMATION ABOUT EXECUTIVE AND DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

### **Compensation Discussion and Analysis**

This Compensation Discussion and Analysis section discusses the compensation policies and programs for our Chief Executive Officer (referred to as our CEO), our Chief Financial Officer (referred to as our CFO) and our three next most highly paid executive officers as determined under the rules of the SEC. Such individuals are referred to as our named executive officers.

### 2012 Financial Highlights

In 2012, Genpact delivered strong growth in revenues, adjusted operating income and cash flow from operations as well as high client satisfaction levels as evidenced by our net promoter scores. We believe that the pay-for-performance philosophy of our executive compensation program was a key driver of our success. The Company s 2012 financial achievements include:

Revenues were \$1.9 billion, up 18.8% from \$1.6 billion in 2011.

Net income attributable to Genpact Limited shareholders was \$178.2 million, compared to \$184.3 million in 2011; net income margin for 2012 was 9.4%, compared to 11.5% in 2011.

Adjusted income from operations increased 18.4% to \$313.1 million, up from \$264.5 million in 2011.

Adjusted income from operations margin was 16.5%, unchanged from 2011.

Cash from operations was \$310.7 million, up 17% from \$266.6 million of cash from operations in 2011. Strong financial results have also led to significant returns to shareholders. For the one-year period ended December 31, 2012, we generated total shareholder returns (measured as the change in our share price including the \$2.24 per share special cash dividend paid on September 24, 2012 to our shareholders of record on September 10, 2012) of 19%.

#### Pay for Performance Philosophy

The compensation of our named executive officers reflects both our strong 2012 performance and commitment to providing executive compensation opportunities that are linked to Company performance and shareholder value creation. We believe that as an employee s level of responsibility increases, so should the proportion of total compensation paid to such employee in the form of performance-based compensation. Accordingly, a significant portion of the total compensation for our named executive officers is in the form of long-term performance equity compensation. The long-term incentives program has included performance share awards since 2010. These awards vest, if at all, based on attainment of specified revenues and adjusted operating income growth and continued service.

#### **Executive Compensation Practices**

We strive to maintain sound compensation practices by continually monitoring the evolution of best practices. We incorporate many best practices into our compensation programs, including the following:

Our performance share award agreements contain claw-back provisions.

We do not currently offer guaranteed retirement benefits or any non-qualified deferred compensation plans. Instead, we provide our named executive officers with the opportunity to accumulate assets through appreciation of their equity awards, and offer our U.S. based executives the opportunity to participate in our 401(k) Plan on the same basis as all our employees.

Our compensation committee continually reviews the relationship of the CEO s compensation to the Company s performance.

Our compensation committee periodically reviews our compensation peer group and makes adjustments, when appropriate, to further enhance market competitiveness and alignment with investor expectations. Our compensation peer group was updated in 2012 as a result of such a review.

21

Our compensation committee benefits from the advice of an independent consulting firm that provides no other services to the Company.

Stock option exercise prices are set at the grant date market price and may not be reduced (except to adjust for stock splits or similar transactions) without shareholder approval.

We regularly evaluate share utilization by reviewing overhang levels (dilutive impact of equity compensation on our shareholders) and annual run rates (the aggregate shares awarded as a percentage of total outstanding shares).

We provide only modest perquisites.

We do not provide tax gross-ups.

We do not permit short sales by executive officers or directors.

### **Compensation Objectives**

The primary objectives of our compensation program for our executives, including our named executive officers, are to attract, motivate and retain highly talented individuals who are committed to our core values of leadership, performance, passion, innovation, teamwork, integrity and respect. Our compensation program is designed to reward the achievement of our annual, long-term and strategic goals, such as growing revenues, improving operating margins, improving client satisfaction scores, reducing employee attrition levels and expanding into new geographies and service offerings. It is also designed to align the interests of our executives, including our named executive officers, with those of our shareholders by rewarding performance that exceeds our goals, with the ultimate objective of increasing shareholder value.

Currently, our compensation committee is responsible for reviewing the overall goals and objectives of our executive compensation programs, as well as our compensation plans, and making any changes to such goals, objectives and plans. Our compensation committee bases our executive compensation on the same objectives that guide us in establishing all of our compensation programs:

Compensation is based on the individual s level of job responsibility.

Compensation reflects the value of the job in the marketplace. A large part of our operations are based in developing economies where there is significant competition for locally-based top executive talent.

Compensation programs are designed to reward performance, both individual and Company.

For fiscal 2012, our executive compensation program had three primary components: (a) base salary, (b) annual cash bonus payments, and (c) equity-based compensation. We also provide other benefits and perquisites.

Our compensation committee considers risk when developing our compensation program and believes that the design of our current compensation program does not encourage excessive or inappropriate risk taking. Our base salaries provide competitive fixed compensation, while annual cash bonuses and equity-based awards encourage annual objectives and goals and long-term consideration rather than short-term risk taking

Our Process

Our compensation committee typically reviews each component of compensation at least every 15 months with the goal of allocating compensation between between cash and non-cash compensation and between long-term and currently paid out compensation, and combining the compensation elements for each executive in a manner we believe best fulfills the objectives of our compensation program.

Our compensation committee is responsible for reviewing the performance and potential of each of our executives, including the named executive officers, approving the compensation level of each of our executives, establishing criteria for granting Company options and other equity awards to our executives and other employees and approving such grants. Each of these tasks is generally performed annually by our compensation committee.

22

There is no pre-established policy for the allocation of compensation between cash and non-cash components or between short-term and long-term components and no pre-established ratios between the CEO s compensation and that of the other named executive officers. Rather, the Company s compensation committee, which includes experienced directors who serve as members of the boards and compensation committees of other public companies, works closely with our CEO, discussing with him the Company s overall performance, the CEO s own performance and his evaluation of and compensation recommendations for the other named executive officers.

The compensation committee then utilizes its judgment and experience in making all compensation determinations. The compensation committee s determination of compensation levels is based upon what the members of the committee deem appropriate, considering information such as the factors listed above, as well as input from our CEO and information and advice provided by an independent compensation consultant.

Role of CEO in Compensation Decisions. After the end of the 2012 fiscal year, the compensation committee and the CEO discussed our business performance, his performance and his evaluation of, and 2012 cash bonus recommendations for, the other named executive officers and certain other members of senior management. The CEO also provides recommendations on periodic adjustments to base salaries of the other named executive officers. The compensation committee takes into consideration the CEO s recommendations but makes the final decisions on compensation as it deems appropriate. The compensation committee, without the CEO present, determined the CEO s 2012 compensation.

Role of Consultants and Advisors in Compensation Decisions. The compensation committee has the authority to retain and terminate an independent third-party compensation consultant and to obtain independent advice and assistance from internal and external legal, accounting and other advisors. During 2012, the compensation committee utilized the services of an executive compensation consulting firm, Frederic W. Cook & Co., Inc. (F. W. Cook). F.W. Cook was engaged by and reported directly to the compensation committee. F.W. Cook did not provide any other services to the Company in 2012. During 2012, F.W. Cook advised the compensation committee with respect to our CEO s compensation and adjustments to outstanding equity awards held by our executives and other employees resulting from our special cash dividend paid in September 2012. Our compensation committee determined that its relationship with F.W. Cook and the work of F.W. Cook on behalf of the compensation committee did not raise any conflict of interest.

F.W. Cook provided market data on the compensation of chief executive officers in 2012 among a group of comparable companies to assist the compensation committee in evaluating the compensation for Mr. Tyagarajan. The companies used for the comparison included companies in our industry with similar revenue and companies we consider to be competing for the same level of executive talent and for which sufficient disclosure was available in publicly available proxy statements at the time of the review. The following companies were used in this peer group analysis:

Alliance Data Systems Global Payments

Broadridge Financial Solutions iGate Corp

CGI Group Infosys Technologies

Ciber Teletech Holdings

Cognizant Tech Solutions Towers Watson & Co.

Convergys WebMD Health

DST Systems Wipro

ExlService Holdings WNS Holdings

As of June 30, 2012, our revenues were between the 25<sup>th</sup> percentile and median and our market capitalization was between the median and 75<sup>th</sup> percentile of the companies in our peer group.

The compensation committee took into account the results of the review, alternatives provided by F.W. Cook, and other factors, such as Mr. Tyagarajan s long tenure with the Company, when determining Mr. Tyagarajan s 2012 base salary and bonus.

Consideration of Prior Shareholder Advisory Vote on Executive Compensation. At our 2011 annual meeting of shareholders, we provided our shareholders the opportunity to vote to approve, on an advisory basis, the compensation of our named executive officers. Approximately 73% of the votes cast on such proposal were in favor of the compensation of the named executive officers. Our compensation committee took the results of the vote into account when determining our fiscal year 2012 executive compensation policies and based on the level of approval did not make any material changes to the Company s compensation philosophies, policies and practices for the remainder of 2011 or for compensation decisions with respect to 2102 compensation for our named executive officers. The compensation committee will continue to take into account future shareholder advisory votes on executive compensation in considering the Company s executive compensation programs and policies. Based on the voting preference of our shareholders, the frequency of future shareholder advisory votes on executive compensation will be every three years. Accordingly, the next shareholder advisory vote will occur at our 2014 annual meeting.

#### **Compensation Components**

Base Salary. Base salary is provided to ensure that we are able to attract and retain high quality executives. It is intended to provide a fixed level of overall compensation that does not vary annually based on performance or changes in shareholder value, thereby ensuring that our executives can maintain a standard of living commensurate with their skill set and experience. Base salary reflects the experience, knowledge, skills and performance records our executives, including our named executive officers, bring to their positions and the general market conditions in the country in which the executives are located. We generally do not have employment agreements with our employees except in special cases or where required by local law. We have, however, entered into employment agreements with our CEO and head of infrastructure, manufacturing and services which specify a minimum base salary as described below.

Our compensation committee typically reviews the salaries of our executives, including our named executive officers, at least every 15 months and determines changes in base salaries based on various factors that include the importance of the role in our overall business, performance and potential of the executive, general Company performance and the market practices in the country where the named executive officer is located. In connection with such review, our CEO provides recommendations and rankings of the executives who directly report to him, including our other named executive officers, and the compensation committee considers the CEO is recommendations in setting base salaries.

N.V. Tyagarajan. On June 15, 2011, we entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Tyagarajan in connection with his becoming our president and chief executive officer. This agreement replaced Mr. Tyagarajan s previous employment agreement, dated as of February 7, 2005. The employment agreement specifies that Mr. Tyagarajan will receive an annual base salary of not less than U.S. \$600,000, effective June 17, 2011. In January 2013, the compensation committee approved a 5% increase in Mr. Tyagarajan s base salary to \$630,000, made retroactive to September 2012 in accordance with Genpact s practice of reviewing the compensation of executive officers every 15 months. Mr. Tyagarajan s 2013 base salary increase was in line with the salary increases for our senior executives located in the United States and reflects the importance of his role as our chief executive officer and his personal performance. The compensation committee took the results of the F.W. Cook review discussed above into consideration in determining Mr. Tyagarajan s base salary increase See Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and Grant of Plan-Based Awards Table Employment Agreements With Named Executive Officers.

Mohit Bhatia. We do not have an employment agreement with Mr. Bhatia. Mr. Bhatia s 2012 base salary was INR 14,781,800 (approximately \$275,623), reflecting a merit increase in September 2012 of approximately 7% over his 2011 base salary. Mr. Bhatia s 2012 base salary increase was in line with the salary increases for our senior executives located in India and reflects the importance of his role and his personal performance.

Patrick Cogny. On August 5, 2011, we entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Cogny in connection with Mr. Cogny s relocation from Belgium to the U.S. and his appointment as Senior Vice President, Infrastructure, Manufacturing and Services. This employment agreement supersedes Mr. Cogny s prior

24

employment agreement dated as of October 21, 2008. Mr. Cogny s agreement specifies that Mr. Cogny will receive an annual base salary of not less than U.S. \$450,000. In December 2012, the compensation committee approved a merit increase in Mr. Cogny s base salary of approximately 3% to \$463,500. Mr. Cogny s 2012 base salary increase was in line with the salary increases for our senior executives located in the United States and reflects the importance of his role and his personal performance. See Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and Grant of Plan-Based Awards Table Employment Agreements with Named Executive Officers.

*Piyush Mehta.* We do not have an employment agreement with Mr. Mehta. Mr. Mehta s 2012 base salary was INR 10,943,640 (approximately \$204,057), reflecting a merit increase effective April 2012 of approximately 8% over his 2011 salary. Mr. Mehta s 2012 base salary increase was in line with the salary increases for our senior executives located in India and reflects the importance of his role and his personal performance.

Arvinder Singh. We do not have an employment agreement with Mr. Singh. Mr. Singh s 2012 base salary was \$364,728, reflecting a merit increase of 5% in September 2012 over his 2011 base salary. Mr. Singh s base salary increase was in line with the salary increases for our senior executives located in the United States and reflects the importance of his role and his personal performance.

Annual Cash Bonus. Annual cash bonuses are designed to provide rewards to our executives, including our named executive officers, for Company performance and their performance during the most recent year. We believe that the immediacy of these cash bonuses, in contrast to our equity grants, which vest over a period of time, provides a significant incentive to our executives towards achieving their respective individual objectives, our Company objectives and our overall long term and strategic goals, such as client satisfaction, growing revenues, improving operating margins, reducing employee attrition levels and expanding into new geographies and service offerings. Our cash bonuses are an important motivating factor for our executives, in addition to being a significant factor in attracting and retaining our executives.

Bonuses are generally determined by our compensation committee in January or February following the end of the year and, as with the base salary component, are based on the recommendation and rankings provided by our CEO for all executives other than the CEO. The same factors used to determine base salary, which are described above, are used to determine bonuses for the prior year, with a greater emphasis on the performance of the individual and our Company and less on other factors such as geographic location. For Messrs. Cogny and Tyagarajan, who have employment agreements that specify bonus opportunities, the compensation committee also takes into consideration the requirements for bonus payments under their agreements, although the compensation committee exercises discretion in determining the appropriate bonus amount. See Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and Grant of Plan-Based Awards Table Employment Agreements with Named Executive Officers

In determining 2012 annual cash bonuses for the named executive officers, the compensation committee considered the Company s 2012 operational and financial performance and each named executive officer s role in achieving such Company performance. In particular, the compensation committee noted the Company s revenue growth of approximately 19%. In addition, revenues from the Company s Global Clients (clients other than the General Electric Company, or GE) increased approximately 26% over 2011 levels. The compensation committee reviewed each individual s contribution to the Company s 2012 results in determining bonus payment amounts. The bonuses were decided by the compensation committee for the CEO and each other named executive officer while being mindful of the Company performance discussed above as well as individual performance.

*N.V. Tyagarajan*. Mr. Tyagarajan s 2012 bonus payment was \$1,625,000, representing an increase of approximately 25% over his 2011 bonus, and exceeding the target set forth in his CEO employment agreement. As the CEO, Mr. Tyagarajan has responsibility for the entire Company, and therefore the compensation committee primarily considered Company performance in determining his 2012 bonus. The compensation committee also considered Mr. Tyagarajan s leadership of the transaction resulting in Bain Capital s purchase of our shares from our prior major shareholders in determining Mr. Tyagarajan s bonus. Due to the scope of

25

#### **Table of Contents**

Mr. Tyagarajan s position, the compensation committee also determined that a bonus that was materially higher than the other named executive officers was warranted.

Mohit Bhatia. Mr. Bhatia s 2012 bonus payment was \$88,523. This represents an increase of approximately 25% over Mr. Bhatia s 2011 bonus in local currency. In 2012, Mr. Bhatia also received a special bonus of \$30,056 for his contributions to the transactions relating to Bain Capital s 2012 share purchase. As the CFO, Mr. Bhatia has responsibility for the Company s financial reporting and, in determining Mr. Bhatia s bonus the compensation committee primarily considered Mr. Bhatia s contributions to achieving our 2012 financial goals and also his leadership role in our 2012 refinancing and payment of the 2012 special cash dividend.

*Patrick Cogny.* Mr. Cogny s 2012 bonus payment was \$362,500, exceeding the target set forth in his employment agreement. This represents an increase of approximately 45% over his 2011 bonus, primarily reflecting a change in his compensation structure that became effective in August 2011 in connection with his relocation to the United States from Europe. In determining Mr. Cogny s bonus, the compensation committee primarily considered Mr. Cogny s contributions to the growth of our infrastructure, manufacturing and services vertical.

*Piyush Mehta.* Mr. Mehta s 2012 bonus payment was \$83,908. This represents an increase of approximately 25% over Mr. Mehta s 2011 bonus in local currency. As the head of human resources, Mr. Mehta has overall responsibility for employee matters and in determining Mr. Mehta s bonus the compensation committee primarily considered Mr. Mehta s contributions to achieving our 2012 people-related goals, such as a reduction in attrition and timely hiring of best-in-class talent.

*Arvinder Singh.* Mr. Singh s 2012 bonus payment was \$197,800. This represents an increase of approximately 15% over Mr. Singh s 2011 bonus. Mr. Singh is responsible for sales and marketing, client relationships and reengineering projects for the Company and the compensation committee primarily considered the scope of his role and personal performance in determining his bonus payment.

*Equity-Based Compensation.* Our equity-based compensation program is designed primarily to attract and retain highly qualified individuals, given that competition for talent is high in our industry, and to align the long-term interests of our executives with those of our shareholders. Equity-based compensation is subject to multi-year vesting requirements, which require continued service of our executives in order for them to realize gains.

2012 Performance Share Awards. In March 2012, we granted performance share awards to our named executive officers. The compensation committee believes that including performance shares as part of Genpact's equity-based compensation programs strengthens focus on the Company's operating performance and shareholder value creation, and enhances the retention value of the overall compensation program. The 2012 performance shares vest on December 31, 2014 based on organic revenue growth and adjusted operating income growth for the 2012 fiscal year and continued service through December 31, 2014. The compensation committee determined that a one-year performance period, instead of the three-year performance period used for the 2010 and 2011 performance share grants as discussed below, encouraged better alignment with shareholder interests. A three-year service vesting period was determined to be appropriate to drive retention and focus executives on increasing long-term shareholder value.

Each award specifies a target number of performance shares. The actual number of common shares of the Company into which the target performance shares convert was calculated by multiplying the number of target performance shares by a performance percentage ranging from 0% to 150% based on the Company s 2012 organic revenue growth and 2012 growth in adjusted income from operations. For each goal, there were three designated levels of attainment. If performance for either metric was below the threshold, no payout would occur.

Based on our 2012 revenue growth of 18% and adjusted operating income growth of 18.4%, the 2012 performance shares will convert to 122.184% of the target shares, provided the executive remains in service through December 31, 2014. In determining the conversion percentage for the 2012 performance shares, the compensation committee excluded revenues and adjusted operating income attributable to acquisitions completed during 2012.

26

#### **Table of Contents**

CEO Grants. In 2012, Mr. Tyagarajan received a performance share grant covering a target number of 100,000 common shares which was adjusted to 111,345 as a result of the special cash dividend paid in September 2012 and will convert into 138,617 actual common shares of the Company based on 2012 organic revenue and adjusted operating income growth as discussed below.

2011 Performance Share Awards. In January 2011, our compensation committee granted performance share awards to the named executive officers (other than our CEO) that were tied to performance goals measured over the three-year performance period from January 1, 2011 through December 31, 2013. The performance period for the June 2011 performance share grant to our CEO was April 1, 2011 to December 31, 2013. The number of our common shares that may be earned under those awards ranges from 0% to 150% of the target number of shares subject to each award and will be determined on the basis of our actual performance over the performance period measured in terms of our revenue and adjusted operating income growth. These awards were outstanding during all of 2012.

2010 Performance Share Awards. In March 2010, we granted performance shares to the named executive officers. The 2010 performance shares vested on December 31, 2012 based on growth in revenue over the period from January 1, 2010 through December 31, 2012 and the average of (i) EBITDA growth over the period from January 1, 2010 through December 31, 2010 and (ii) adjusted operating income growth over the period from January 1, 2011 through December 31, 2012.

Based on average revenue growth of 12.6% over the performance period and average EBITDA/adjusted operating income growth over the performance period of 15.6%, the compensation committee approved payment of the 2010 performance shares at 90.851% of the target award levels. In determining the conversion percentage for the 2010 performance shares, the compensation committee excluded revenues attributable to acquisitions completed during the three-year performance period, EBITDA attributable to acquisitions completed in 2010 and adjusted operating income attributable to acquisitions completed in 2011 and 2012.

Benefits and Perquisites. We provide other benefits to our named executive officers that are generally available to other employees in the country in which the named executive officer is located. We also provide our named executive officers with certain modest perquisites which we believe are reasonable and consistent with market trends in the countries in which our named executive officers are located. Such benefits and perquisites are intended to be part of a competitive overall compensation program. For more details on the benefits provided to our named executive officers, see 2012 Summary Compensation Table and Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and Grant of Plan-Based Awards Table.

Severance Arrangements. We have entered into agreements with Messrs. Tyagarajan and Cogny which provide for certain payments in the event of a termination of employment. The severance payments and benefits were based on individual negotiations with the executives and are an important part of employment arrangements designed to retain these named executive officers and provide certainty with respect to the payments and benefits to be provided upon certain termination events. Our CEO was involved in the individual negotiations with Mr. Cogny and made recommendations to the compensation committee regarding the severance arrangements. For additional details on these payments and benefits, see Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change of Control.

Change of Control. Pursuant to the terms of Mr. Tyagarajan s employment agreement, all of his outstanding equity awards will accelerate in full upon a change in control. In the event of a change in control, the performance shares granted to our named executive officers will convert into a right to receive common shares representing 100% of the target performance shares without regard to performance or a number of common shares based on performance over an abbreviated performance period, depending on when the change in control occurs. These benefits are described in more detail in Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and Grant of Plan-Based Awards Table Employment Agreements with Named Executive Officers N.V. Tyagarajan and Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change of Control.

*Equity Grant Practices.* All stock options granted by the Company have an exercise price equal to the closing market price of our common shares on the grant date. Equity grants are typically approved at our

27

quarterly compensation committee meetings by resolution, and, unless a future effective date is specified, become effective as of the date of the meeting at which they are approved. The dates for our quarterly compensation committee meetings are generally scheduled months, and sometimes up to a year, in advance. In certain cases equity grants to new hires or promoted employees are approved by written consent outside of regularly scheduled compensation committee meetings and are effective as of the latest date a committee member signs the consent. Our compensation committee has delegated limited authority to the CEO and our Senior Vice President of Human Resources to grant equity compensation in between regularly scheduled compensation committee meetings to individuals other than executive officers and directors.

Stock Ownership Guidelines. We currently do not have any stock ownership guidelines for executives or other employees. Our compensation committee has considered such guidelines in the past and we expect to adopt them in the near future.

*Recovery Policy.* Our performance share awards provide that if the named executive officer has breached any restrictive covenant under any agreement with the Company during employment or during the one-year period following termination of employment, we have the right to terminate the award and cancel any shares issued under the award and be paid any proceeds received by the officer from the sale of shares issued under the award.

IRC Section 162(m) Compliance. As a result of Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code, publicly-traded companies such as the Company are not allowed a federal income tax deduction for compensation paid to the CEO and the three other highest paid executive officers (other than the CFO) to the extent that such compensation exceeds \$1 million per officer in any one year and does not otherwise qualify as performance-based compensation. The 2007 Plan is structured so that compensation deemed paid to an executive officer in connection with the exercise of stock options or stock appreciation rights should qualify as performance-based compensation that is not subject to the \$1 million limitation. In addition, restricted share units and performance share awards with performance-vesting goals tied to one or more of the performance criteria approved by the shareholders under the 2007 Plan may also be structured to qualify as performance-based compensation for Section 162(m) purposes.

However, restricted share units and performance share awards subject only to service-vesting requirements will not qualify as such performance-based compensation. Other awards made under the 2007 Plan may or may not so qualify. In establishing the cash and equity incentive compensation programs for the executive officers, it is the compensation committee s view that the potential deductibility of the compensation payable under those programs should be only one of a number of relevant factors taken into consideration, and not the sole governing factor. For that reason the compensation committee may deem it appropriate to continue to provide one or more executive officers with the opportunity to earn incentive compensation, including cash bonus programs tied to the Company s financial performance and restricted share unit and performance share awards, which may be in excess of the amount deductible by reason of Section 162(m) or other provisions of the Internal Revenue Code. It is the compensation committee s belief that cash and equity incentive compensation must be maintained at the requisite level to attract and retain the executive officers essential to the Company s financial success, even if all or part of that compensation may not be deductible by reason of the Section 162(m) limitation.

28

#### 2012 Summary Compensation Table

The following table sets forth information concerning the compensation of our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, and the other named executive officers (as defined in Compensation Discussion and Analysis ) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012. Because Messrs. Bhatia and Mehta are based in India and paid in Indian rupees, and the U.S. dollar appreciated against the Indian rupee in 2012, their base salaries declined marginally in U.S. dollars compared to their 2011 salaries while increasing in their local currency.

						Change in Pension Value and Nonqualified Deferred		
Name and Principal Position	Year	Salary (\$)	Bonus (\$)	Share Awards (\$)(1)	Option Awards (\$)(2)	Compensation Earnings (\$)	All Other Compensation (\$)	Total Compensation (\$)
N.V. Tyagarajan	2012	602,378	1,625,000	2,924,948(4)	(Ψ)(≃)	(Ψ)	161,659(5)	5,313,985
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director(3)	2011 2010	515,371 453,875	1,300,000 721,457	5,269,745 792,188	1,552,967 225,012	30,404 8,818	110,592 25,173	8,779,079 2,226,523
Mohit Bhatia Chief Financial Officer(3)	2012 2011 2010	263,603 289,304 273,949	118,578(6) 81,765 58,673	589,631(4) 412,665 304,688	120,006	1,207(7) 8,390 12,746	432(8) 477 492	973,450 792,601 770,554
Patrick Cogny Senior Vice President, Infrastructure, Manufacturing and Services(3)	2012 2011 2010	451,731 414,282 375,914	362,500 253,046 129,907	589,631(4) 583,770 243,750	90,005		29,051(9) 179,644 242,093	1,432,913 1,430,741 1,081,669
Piyush Mehta Senior Vice President, Human Resources(3)	2012 2011	200,278 218,148	83,908 77,502	687,894(4) 678,789		1,008(7) 10,017	544(10) 477	973,631 984,934
Arvinder Singh Senior Vice President, Sales & Marketing, Client Relationships and Re-engineering	2012	354,441	197,800	687,894(4)			27,644(11)	1,267,779

<sup>(1)</sup> The amounts shown under this column reflect (a) the dollar amount of the aggregate grant date fair value of restricted share units and performance share awards granted during the year pursuant to our 2007 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan (including an award of restricted share units granted to our CEO in 2013 as described in footnote (4)), calculated in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Codification Topic 718, Compensation Stock Compensation, or FASB ASC Topic 718 and (b) the dollar amount of the incremental fair value related to the modification of the CEO s 2011 and 2012 performance share awards, calculated in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. The aggregate grant date fair value of the 2011 performance share awards is calculated in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718, based on the probable outcome of the attainment of one or more pre-established performance objectives. Assumptions used in the calculation of these amounts are included in Note 19 Stock-based compensation to our audited consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012 included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K. In accordance with the rules promulgated by the SEC, the amounts shown for awards with performance based vesting conditions exclude the impact of estimated forfeiture and amounts shown for awards with service based vesting conditions do not exclude the impact of estimated forfeitures. With respect to the performance share awards granted in 2011, assuming maximum performance is achieved, the aggregate grant date fair value would be as set forth below. The performance periods for the performance shares granted in 2010 and 2012 are completed and accordingly the outcome has been determined.

Same Grant Date Fair Value Based on Year Maximum Achievement (\$)

Edgar Filing: Genpact LTD - Form DEF 14A

N.V. Tyagarajan	2011	2,301,000
Mohit Bhatia	2011	402,600
Patrick Cogny	2011	603,900
Piyush Mehta	2011	503,250
Arvinder Singh	2011	905,850

<sup>(2)</sup> The amounts shown represent the aggregate grant date fair value of the stock options awarded to our named executive officers for the applicable year, calculated in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718, and do not take into account estimated forfeitures. Assumptions

#### **Table of Contents**

used in the calculation of these amounts are included in Note 19 Stock-based compensation to our audited consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012 included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(3) Certain payments to Messrs. Tyagarajan, Bhatia, Cogny, and Mehta were made using foreign currency. The following foreign exchange rates were used to calculate amounts in the above table for these named executive officers:

Messrs. Tyagarajan, Bhatia and Mehta: US\$1/0.0186461 INR in 2012, US\$1/0.0215285 INR in 2011 and US\$1/0.0217306 INR in 2010, with respect to all amounts other than with respect to the Option Awards columns.

Mr. Cogny: US\$1/1.2859410 Euro in 2012, US\$1/1.3980302 Euro in 2011 and US\$1/1.3365833 Euro in 2010 with respect to all amounts other than with respect to the Option Awards column.

- (4) For 2012, the amount shown reflects (i) the grant date fair value of the performance share awards granted in 2012, (ii) the incremental grant-date fair value attributable to the modification made on October 25, 2012 to the performance share awards in March 2012 and (iii) for Mr. Tyagarajan, the grant date fair value of restricted share units granted in 2013 for which the accounting charge is included in 2012 because all of the conditions to the grant were satisfied in 2012 and the incremental grant-date fair value attributable to the modification made on October 25, 2012 to the performance share awards granted to Mr. Tyagarajan in June 2011 and March 2012 as a result of his waiver of accelerated vesting calculated in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. See also 2012 Grants of Plan-Based Awards and Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table.
- (5) The amount shown consists of the following payments and benefits to Mr. Tyagarajan: (a) \$5,936 for life insurance plan premiums; (b) \$1,997 relating to contributions by the Company to the Indian Provident Fund; (c) \$29,419 for reimbursement of expenses relating to Mr. Tyagarajan s relocation to the United States; (d) \$59,877 for personal costs as provided in his employment agreement; (e) \$34,385 for unused vacation days in India before relocating to the United States; (f) \$20,044 for reimbursement of expenses for Mr. Tyagarajan s car and (g) \$10,000 for our matching contribution to our 401(k) plan.
- (6) The amount shown consists of the following payments to Mr. Bhatia: (a) annual bonus of approximately \$88,523 and (b) special bonus payment of \$30,055 for his contributions to the transactions relating to Bain Capital s 2012 share purchase.
- (7) The amount shown represents the change in pension value with respect to the Gratuity Plan benefit for Messrs. Bhatia and Mehta which is required to be provided to all employees in India pursuant to Indian law. Assumptions used in the calculation of this amount are included in Note 18 Employee benefit plans to our audited consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K.
- (8) The amount shown consists of payments towards life insurance premiums for Mr. Bhatia.
- (9) The amount shown consists of the following payments and benefits to Mr. Cogny: (a) \$10,000 for our matching contribution to our 401(k) plan; (b) \$3,833 for executive life insurance premiums; (c) \$10,403 for reimbursement of expenses relating to the storage of goods in Europe as provided in his employment agreement; and (d) \$4,815 for medical insurance in Europe prior to his relocation to the United States.
- (10) The amount shown consists of the following payments and benefits to Mr. Mehta: (a) \$432 for life insurance plan premiums and (b) \$112 paid for an employee referral.
- (11) The amount shown consists of the following payments and benefits to Mr. Singh: (a) \$10,000 for our matching contribution to our 401(k) plan; (b) \$11,496 for payments relating to our former profit sharing plan for U.S. employees; and (c) \$6,148 for executive life insurance premiums.

30

#### 2012 Grants of Plan-Based Awards

The following table provides certain information regarding equity-based awards granted to our named executive officers during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012. There were no stock option grants to our named executive officers in 2012. For our CEO, the table also includes certain awards that were granted in 2011 but have an associated incremental fair value in 2012. These awards were granted under the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan. There were no grants under any non-equity incentive plans to any of our named executive officers for the year ended December 31, 2012. All grants reflect the adjustment to equity awards resulting from the special cash dividend paid in September 2012.

					All Other Stock Awards:	
Name	Grant Date	I	Stimated Fut Payouts Unde Equity Incenti Plan Awards (	er ive	Number of Shares of Stock or Units (#)	Grant Date Fair Value of Stock Awards (\$)(2)
		Threshold	Target	Maximum		
		(#)	(#)	(#)		
N.V. Tyagarajan	3/6/2012	85,087	113,450	170,175		1,965,436
N.V. Tyagarajan	2/12/2013				34,035	595,613(3)
N.V. Tyagarajan	6/15/2011	85,087	113,450	170,175		363,899(4)
Mohit Bhatia	3/6/2012	25,526	34,035	51,052		589,631
Patrick Cogny	3/6/2012	25,526	34,035	51,052		589,631
Piyush Mehta	3/6/2012	29,780	39,707	59,560		687,894
Arvinder Singh	3/6/2012	29,780	39,707	59,560		687,894

- (1) Represents performance share awards that vest based on level of attainment of performance goals for fiscal year 2012 and continued service through December 31, 2014. The actual number of shares that may vest based on continued service was determined to be 122.184% of the target number of shares designated for each named executive officer. See Compensation Discussion and Analysis for a description of the awards.
- (2) Represents the grant date fair value of stock awards granted during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, calculated in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. The aggregate grant date fair value of performance share awards is calculated in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718, based on the probable outcome of the attainment of one or more pre-established performance objectives. Assumptions used in the calculation of these amounts are included in Note 19 Stock-based compensation to our audited consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012 included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K. In accordance with rules promulgated by the SEC in December 2009, the amounts shown for awards with performance based vesting conditions exclude the impact of estimated forfeitures and amount shown for awards with service based vesting conditions do not exclude the impact of estimated forfeitures.
- (3) Represents the grant date fair value of restricted share unit award granted on February 12, 2013, calculated in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. The accounting charge for this grant is included in 2012 in accordance with ASC 718 because all of the conditions to the grant were satisfied in October 2012.
- (4) The amount shown reflects the incremental grant-date fair value attributable to the modification made on October 25, 2012 to the performance share award granted on June 15, 2011 as a result of the waiver of accelerated vesting of such award. Assumptions used in the calculation of this amount are included in Note 19 Stock-based compensation to our audited consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K. See also 2012 Grants of Plan-Based Awards and Narrative

Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table.

31

#### Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table

Employment Agreements with Named Executive Officers

Below are descriptions of the material terms of our employment agreements with our named executive officers.

*N.V. Tyagarajan.* We entered into an employment agreement with N.V. Tyagarajan on June 15, 2011, which supersedes his previous employment agreement, dated September 21, 2005. The employment agreement has an indefinite term and may be terminated by us or Mr. Tyagarajan, subject to the severance provisions described below. The employment agreement provides for an annual base salary of not less than \$600,000 and a target bonus of 125% of annual base salary. Mr. Tyagarajan is entitled to benefits and perquisites generally available to our other senior executives, reimbursement of automobile costs and \$60,000 for personal costs. Mr. Tyagarajan is also entitled to four weeks of vacation per year.

Pursuant to the terms of the employment agreement, Mr. Tyagarajan was granted the following equity awards on June 15, 2011:

- (i) Options covering 250,000 common shares of the Company at a per share exercise price of \$15.34, the closing price of our common shares on the June 15, 2011 grant date of the options. The options vest in four equal annual installments upon Mr. Tyagarajan s completion of each year of employment over the four-year period measured from June 17, 2011. The options will vest in full upon a change in control. In the event of termination by reason of death or disability, Mr. Tyagarajan will receive an additional 12 months of vesting and in the event of termination without cause or for good reason, Mr. Tyagarajan will receive up to an additional 24 months of vesting.
- (ii) Restricted share units covering 200,000 common shares of the Company. The restricted share units vest in four equal annual installments upon Mr. Tyagarajan s completion of each year of employment with the Company over the four-year period measured from June 15, 2011. The restricted share units will vest in full upon a change in control or Mr. Tyagarajan s termination by reason of death or disability or termination without cause or for good reason.
- (iii) Performance shares covering a target number of 100,000 common shares of the Company. The performance shares vest on December 31, 2013 subject to continued employment and satisfaction of specified performance criteria (as more fully described in Compensation Discussion and Analysis 2011 Performance Share Awards above).
- Mr. Tyagarajan is also entitled to receive additional performance share grants covering a target number of 113,450 (100,000 adjusted for the special cash dividend) common shares of the Company in each of 2012 and 2013 which will vest on December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2015, respectively, subject to continued employment and satisfaction of specified performance criteria to be specified at the time of grant. The performance shares (including the 2011 grant) vest in full with respect to the target or actual number of shares (depending on when the change in control occurs) upon a change in control or Mr. Tyagarajan s termination of employment by reason of death or disability. In the event we terminate Mr. Tyagarajan s employment without cause (as defined in the employment agreement) or he terminates for good reason, the performance shares (including the 2011 grant) will continue to vest on each remaining applicable vesting date to the extent the applicable performance goals are satisfied.

In August 2012, Mr. Tyagaran s awards were amended so that the purchase of our shares by an affiliate of Bain Capital would not be deemed to be a change in control (and therefore not result in an accelerated vesting of the awards) and also to amend the definition of a change in control for future events. In order to comply with the rules set forth under Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, in connection with the amendment to Mr. Tyagarajan s restricted share unit grant, the Company agreed to issue Mr. Tyagarajan an additional 30,000 restricted share units (which were adjusted to 34,035 as a result of the special cash dividend) following the closing of Bain Capital s share purchase. These restricted share units vest on December 31, 2016 subject to continued employment.

32

For purposes of Mr. Tyagarajan s employment agreement, the term good reason means a material reduction in the nature of Mr. Tyagarajan s authorities or duties, a material reduction in base compensation, requiring Mr. Tyagarajan to report to any person other than our board of directors or a material relocation of Mr. Tyagarajan s principal place of employment, which has not been cured by us within 30 days following notice of such event by Mr. Tyagarajan.

If Mr. Tyagarajan s employment is terminated by us without cause or by Mr. Tyagarajan for good reason, then in addition to any earned but unpaid salary or bonus and payment for accrued but unused vacation, Mr. Tyagarajan is entitled to payment of an amount equal to the sum of (I) two times Mr. Tyagarajan s then current base salary and (II) two times the annual bonus received for the fiscal year preceding the fiscal year in which the termination occurs. In addition, we will reimburse Mr. Tyagarajan for the cost of acquiring health benefits for himself and his dependents at the same level of coverage and benefits as is provided to our US-based senior executives for two years following the date of termination, or any earlier date on which he and his dependents become eligible for such health benefits from another employer.

Mr. Tyagarajan s payments upon termination of employment described above are subject to his execution of a release of all claims against us and our affiliates. The release would also be executed by us and release Mr. Tyagarajan from any claims by us relating to Mr. Tyagarajan s employment or services other than claims based on acts or omissions of Mr. Tyagarajan that involve fraud or which are not known to the non-employee directors on the date of such release. The release also includes a mutual non-disparagement provision.

Under his employment agreement, for two years after the termination of his employment, Mr. Tyagarajan will be subject to certain non-compete and non-solicitation covenants.

Patrick Cogny. On August 5, 2011 we entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Cogny in connection with Mr. Cogny s relocation to the U.S. and his appointment as a Senior Vice President, Manufacturing and Services. The August employment agreement replaces a prior agreement, dated October 21, 2008, between Mr. Cogny and Genpact Onsite Services, Inc.

Among other provisions, Mr. Cogny s agreement specifies that Mr. Cogny will receive an annual base salary of not less than \$450,000. The employment agreement provides for a guaranteed cash bonus payment of at least \$100,000 per calendar year, plus a discretionary target bonus of up to an additional \$250,000 which is not guaranteed. The agreement provides for one-time payment of \$12,000 to assist with relocation expenses. In addition, if Mr. Cogny is terminated, except for a serious breach of the employment agreement, serious misconduct or serious negligence, he will receive a one-time payment equal to \$550,000.

Other Named Executive Officers. We do not have an employment agreement with Messrs. Bhatia, Mehta or Singh.

### 2007 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan

We adopted our 2007 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan, or the 2007 Plan, on July 13, 2007, and amended it on April 15, 2011, April 11, 2012 and August 1, 2012.

**Stock Options.** We did not grant any options to our directors or named executive officers in 2012.

**Restricted Share Units.** The restricted share units granted to our directors in 2012 vest on December 31, 2012 and the underlying shares will be issued on December 31, 2013.

**Performance Share Awards.** The performance shares granted to our named executive officers in 2012 will convert into actual common shares of the Company based on the Company s attainment of certain performance goals measured over the period beginning January 1, 2012 and ending December 31, 2012 and the individual s continued service with the Company through December 31, 2014. Each award specifies a target number of performance shares. The actual number of common shares of the Company into which the performance shares may convert will be calculated by multiplying the number of target performance shares designated under the award by a performance percentage ranging from 0% to 150% based on the Company s

33

#### **Table of Contents**

2012 organic revenue growth and 2012 growth in adjusted income from operations. For each goal, there are three designated levels of attainment. If performance for either metric is below the threshold, no payout will occur. Based on our 2012 revenue and adjusted operating income performance, the 2012 performance shares will convert to 122.184% of the target shares.

The performance share awards (and any shares issued thereunder or proceeds from the sale of such shares) are subject to forfeiture in the event of a breach of restrictive covenants. See Compensation Discussion and Analysis Recovery Policy .

*Change of Control.* Pursuant to the 2007 Plan, unless otherwise provided in an individual award agreement, in the event of a change of control of our company, existing awards may be assumed, substituted or continued. If the awards are not so assumed, substituted or continued, then:

any options and SARs outstanding as of the date the change of control is determined to have occurred will become fully exercisable and vested, as of immediately prior to the change of control;

all performance units and cash incentive awards will be paid out as if target performance levels had been attained, but pro rated based on the portion of the performance period that elapses prior to the change of control;

performance share awards will become payable at target levels or based on actual performance depending on whether a change in control occurs during or after the performance period; and

all other outstanding awards will automatically be deemed exercisable or vested and all restrictions and forfeiture provisions related thereto will lapse as of immediately prior to such change of control.

Unless otherwise provided pursuant to an award agreement, a change of control is defined to mean any of the following events, generally:

during any period of twenty-four consecutive months, a change in the composition of a majority of our board of directors that is not supported by a majority of the incumbent board of directors;

the consummation of a merger, reorganization or consolidation or sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of our assets;

the approval by our shareholders of a plan of our complete liquidation or dissolution; or

an acquisition by any individual, entity or group (other than Bain Capital or any of its affiliates) of beneficial ownership of a percentage of the combined voting power of our then outstanding voting securities entitled to vote generally in the election of directors that is equal to or greater than 25% (in the case of Bain Capital or any of its affiliates the threshold is 50%).

**Retirement Benefits.** We provide our employees in the United States, including our CEO, with a tax-qualified defined contribution 401(k) plan, pursuant to which employees may elect to defer pre-tax salary amounts up to the limits set by the Internal Revenue Code. We match 100% of the first 4% of salary deferred by our employees under the 401(k) plan.

In India, we maintain a Gratuity Plan, and a Provident Fund Plan, both of which are defined contribution plans required under applicable law.

## 2012 Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year End

The following table provides information regarding each outstanding equity award held by each of our named executive officers as of December 31, 2012. All share numbers and exercise prices have been adjusted to reflect the special cash dividend paid in September 2012.

				Equity				
Name	Number of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options (#) Exercisable	Number of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options (#) Unexercisable	Option Exercise Price (\$)	Option Expiration Date	Number of Shares or Units of Stock That Have Not Vested (#)	Market Value of Shares or Units of Stock That Have Not Vested (\$)(1)	Equity Incentive Plan Awards: Number of Shares, Units or Other Rights That Have Not Vested (#)	Incentive Plan Awards: Market Value of Shares, Units or Other Rights That Have Not Vested (\$)(1)
N.V. Tyagarajan	469,229		3.04	7/25/2015				(2)
N.V. Tyagarajan	410,462		14.22	4/19/2017				(3)
N.V. Tyagarajan	170,175	113,450	9.52	5/6/2019				(4)
N.V. Tyagarajan	25,526	25,526	14.32	3/11/2020				(5)
N.V. Tyagarajan	70,906	212,719	13.52	6/14/2021				(6)
N.V. Tyagarajan							170,175	2,637,712(7)
N.V. Tyagarajan					170,175	2,637,712		(8)
N.V. Tyagarajan					138,617	2,148,564		(9)
N.V. Tyagarajan					34,035	527,543		(10)
Mohit Bhatia	48,925		3.04	7/25/2015				(11)
Mohit Bhatia	102,615		14.22	4/19/2017				(3)
Mohit Bhatia	19,523	13,614	6.33	12/14/2018				(12)
Mohit Bhatia	13,614	13,614	14.32	3/10/2020				(5)
Mohit Bhatia							34,035	527,542(13)
Mohit Bhatia					41,585	644,568		(9)
Patrick Cogny	142,028		14.38	4/19/2017				(3)
Patrick Cogny		14,749	6.33	12/14/2018				(12)
Patrick Cogny	10,201	10,211	14.32	3/10/2020				(5)
Patrick Cogny							51,053	791,321(13)
Patrick Cogny					41,585	644,568		(9)
Piyush Mehta	112,877		14.22	4/19/2017				(3)
Piyush Mehta		12,480	6.33	12/14/2018				(12)
Piyush Mehta	8,508	8,509	14.32	03/10/2020				(5)
Piyush Mehta							42,543	659,416(13)
Piyush Mehta					12,763	197,827		(8)
Piyush Mehta					48,516	751,998		(9)
Arvinder Singh	102,615		14.22	4/19/2017				(3)
Arvinder Singh		14,749	6.33	12/14/2018				(12)
Arvinder Singh	11,344	11,346	14.32	03/10/2020				(5)
Arvinder Singh							76,578	1,186,959(13)
Arvinder Singh					17,017	263,764		(8)
Arvinder Singh					48,516	751,998		(9)

- (1) Represents the aggregate market value of the shares subject to the award calculated using the NYSE closing price of a Genpact share on December 31, 2012. In accordance with SEC rules, the number of shares pertaining to equity incentive plan awards has been reported based on the next higher performance measure that exceeds the previous fiscal year s performance. Therefore, equity incentive plan awards granted in 2011 have been reported at maximum performance attainment.
- (2) These Company options were granted on July 26, 2005, and were fully vested as of February 7, 2010.
- (3) These Company options were granted on April 20, 2007, and were fully vested as of December 31, 2012.
- (4) These Company options were granted on May 7, 2009 and vest with respect to 20% on May 1, 2010, 20% on May 1, 2011, 20% on May 1, 2012, 20% on May 1, 2013 and 20% on May 1, 2014, subject to continued service through each vesting date.

35

- (5) These Company options were granted on March 12, 2010, and vest with respect to 25% on February 1, 2011, 25% on February 1, 2012, 25% on February 1, 2013 and 25% on February 1, 2014, subject to continued service through each vesting date.
- (6) These Company options were granted on June 15, 2011 and vest with respect to 25% on June 17, 2012, 25% on June 17, 2013, 25% on June 17, 2014 and 25% on June 17, 2015, subject to continued service through each vesting date.
- (7) Represents Company performance share awards granted on June 15, 2011 based on maximum performance attainment. The actual number of common shares of the Company into which the performance shares may convert will be calculated by multiplying the number of target performance shares awarded by a performance percentage ranging from 0% to 150% based on the attained level of Company performance as measured in terms of the criteria set forth in the performance share award agreement and described in Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table .
- (8) Represents restricted share units granted on June 15, 2011 that vest with respect to 25% on June 17, 2012, 25% on June 17, 2013, 25% on June 17, 2014 and 25% on June 17, 2015.
- (9) Represents Company performance share awards granted on March 6, 2012 based on actual performance attainment. The performance criteria for these awards were attained on December 31, 2012. However, the awards are subject to vesting upon completion of the service period ending on December 31, 2014.
- (10) Represents restricted share units granted on February 12, 2013 that vest 100% on December 31, 2016. This award was not outstanding on December 31, 2012. However, the accounting charge for this grant is included in 2012 in accordance with ASC 718 because all of the conditions to the grant were satisfied in October 2012.
- (11) These Company options were granted on July 26, 2005, and were fully vested as of January 1, 2010.
- (12) These Company options were granted on December 15, 2008, and vest with respect to 20% on December 1, 2009, 20% on December 1, 2010, 20% on December 1, 2011, 20% on December 1, 2012 and 20% on December 1, 2013, subject to continued service through each vesting date.
- (13) Represents Company performance share awards granted on March 15, 2011 based on maximum performance attainment. The actual number of common shares of the Company into which the target performance shares may convert will be calculated by multiplying the number of target performance shares awarded by a performance percentage ranging from 0% to 150% based on the attained level of Company performance as measured in terms of the criteria set forth in the performance share award agreement.

#### 2012 Option Exercises and Stock Vested

The following table provides information regarding all Company options exercised by and all stock awards that vested to each of our named executive officers during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012.

Option Awards Stock Awards

Name Number of Value Number Value Realized on Shares Acquired Realized on of Vesting (\$) on Exercise Shares Acquired

Edgar Filing: Genpact LTD - Form DEF 14A

	Exercise (#)	(\$)(1)	on Vesting (#)	
N.V. Tyagarajan	205,231	2,572,950	116,995(2)	1,972,880
Mohit Bhatia	34,933	330,261	25,766(3)	461,469
Patrick Cogny	58,993	546,369	20,613(4)	369,179
Piyush Mehta	111,914	816,226	23,332(5)	408,089
Arvinder Singh	58,993	553,730	31,798(6)	556,452

- (1) Represents the aggregate price at which shares acquired upon exercise of the options were sold, net of the exercise price paid for acquiring the shares.
- (2) Includes 66,995 shares vested as of December 31, 2012 pursuant to the March 2010 performance share award and issued in March 2013 and 50,000 shares vested on June 17, 2012 pursuant to the June 2011 restricted share unit award.
- (3) Represents 25,766 shares vested as of December 31, 2012 pursuant to the March 2010 performance share award and issued in March 2013.
- (4) Represents 20,613 shares vested as of December 31, 2012 pursuant to the March 2010 performance share award and issued in March 2013.

36

- (5) Includes 19,582 shares vested as of December 31, 2012 pursuant to the March 2010 performance share award and issued in March 2013 and 3,750 shares vested on June 17, 2012 pursuant to the June 2011 restricted share unit award.
- (6) Includes 26,798 shares vested as of December 31, 2012 pursuant to the March 2010 performance share award and issued in March 2013 and 5,000 shares vested on June 17, 2012 pursuant to the June 2011 restricted share unit award.

#### 2012 Pension Benefits

The chart below provides information on certain pension benefits provided to our named executive officers for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012.

Name	Plan Name	Number of Years Credited Service (#)	Present Value of Accumulated Benefit (\$)(1,2)	Payments During Last Fiscal Year (\$)
Mohit Bhatia	Gratuity Plan for Indian	()	(4)(1)=)	(4)
Wollit Bliatia	Employees	13.45	62,016	
Piyush Mehta	Gratuity Plan for Indian			
•	Employees	11.09	37,021	

- (1) We are required to provide all Indian employees with benefits under a Gratuity Plan, which is a defined benefit plan. Assumptions used in the calculation of this amount are included in note 19 Employee benefit plans to our audited consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011, included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K.
- (2) The foreign exchange rate used to calculate amounts in the above table is US\$1/0.0186461 INR.

# **Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change of Control**

Below is a description of the potential payments and benefits that would be provided to our named executive officers upon termination of their employment or a change of control under their employment agreements and award agreements under the Company Stock Plans.

Employment Agreements with Named Executive Officers

We have entered into agreements with Messrs. Cogny and Tyagarajan which provide for certain payments and benefits to be paid to each upon certain terminations of employment. See Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and Grant of Plan-Based Awards

Table Employment Agreements with Named Executive Officers for a description of these provisions.

### Company Stock Plans

The treatment of outstanding awards under our 2007 Plan in the event of a change of control is described under Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table 2007 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan . Under the equity compensation plans utilized by us prior to the adoption of the 2007 Plan (the 2007 Plan together with all prior plans, the Company Stock Plans ), upon the occurrence of a change of control (as defined below) or dissolution or liquidation, our board of directors may provide that all Company options will become immediately exercisable. Our board of directors may also, upon at least ten days advance notice, cancel any outstanding Company options and pay to the holders of such Company options, in cash or shares, the value of such Company options based upon the price per share received by our other shareholders in the event of a change of control. Our obligations under the Company Stock Plans will be binding upon any successor corporation or organization. The term change of control for the purposes of our Company Stock Plans, other than the 2007 Plan, is defined as the following: (a) the acquisition by any person or entity (other than Glory Investments A Limited or any of its affiliates or

successors (including Bain Capital)), directly or indirectly, of more than 50% of the combined voting power of the then outstanding securities entitled to vote generally in the election of our directors, including, without limitation, as a result, in whole or part, by

37

reason of a sale or other disposition by Glory Investments A Limited or any of its affiliates or successors; (b) any merger, consolidation, reorganization, recapitalization, tender or exchange offer or any other transaction with or affecting us as a result of which a person or entity other than Glory Investments A Limited or any of its affiliates owns after such transaction, directly or indirectly, more than 50% of the combined voting power of the then outstanding securities entitled to vote generally in the election of our directors; or (c) the sale, lease, exchange, transfer or other disposition to any person or entity, other than an Investor, of all or substantially all, of our assets and our consolidated subsidiaries.

Generally, except as described below, our Company option or other equity award agreements with our named executive officers do not provide for accelerated vesting upon a termination of employment.

Under his 2011 option grant, Mr. Tyagarajan will receive an additional 12 months of vesting upon a termination by reason of death or disability and up to 24 months of vesting upon termination without cause or for good reason. The option vests in full upon a change in control. The restricted share units granted to Mr. Tyagarajan in 2011 vest in full upon a change in control, a termination by reason of death, disability or a termination without cause or for good reason. The performance share awards granted to Mr. Tyagarajan vest in full upon a change in control, termination by reason of death, disability or a termination without cause or for good reason, in each case based on target performance if the triggering event occurs prior to completion of the performance period and at actual performance if the triggering event occurs after completion of the performance period.

38

### Termination and Change of Control Potential Payments and Benefits Table

The amounts included in the table below do not include payments and benefits to the extent they are provided on a non-discriminatory basis to salaried employees generally upon termination of employment. The amounts indicated are based on the payments and benefit that would have been incurred by the Company if the named executive officer s employment had terminated as of the last business day of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012. Where applicable, the value of one of our common shares on December 31, 2012 was \$15.50, which was the closing market price of our common shares on the NYSE as of that date.

		Involuntary		Voluntary Termination Other			Change of Accelerated Vesting if Award not assumed, substituted or	Award assumed, substituted or
			Termination with Good	than death,	Termination	Termination due to	continued by the	continued by the
Name	without Cause (\$)	Cause (\$)	Reason(1)	disability	due to Death (\$)	Disability	Acquiring	Acquiring
N.V. Tyagarajan	Cause (\$)	(\$)	(\$)	(\$)	Death (\$)	(\$)	Entity (\$)	Entity (\$)
Cash Severance	3,800,000(2)	•	3,800,000(2)					
Equity Treatment	7,675,205(3)		7,675,205(3)		7,227,615(4)	7,227,615(4)	8,201,685(5)	7,072,305(6)
Health and Welfare	79,794(7)		79,794(7)		7,227,018(1)	7,227,015(1)	0,201,000(0)	7,072,000(0)
Pension Benefits	, , ,		, , ,					
TOTAL	11,554,999		11,554,999		7,227,615	7,227,615	8,201,685	7,072,305
Mohit Bhatia								
Cash Severance								
Equity Treatment	214,858(8)	1					1,137,141(8)	
Health and Welfare								
Pension Benefits TOTAL	214,858						1,137,141	
Patrick Cogny	214,030						1,137,141	
Cash Severance	550,000(10	))			362,500(11)	362,500(11)		
Equity Treatment	214,858(12	*			202,200(11)	202,200(11)	1,319,394(13)	
Health and Welfare	, (	,					, , ( - ,	
Pension Benefits								
TOTAL	764,858				362,500	362,500	1,319,394	
Piyush Mehta								
Cash Severance								
Equity Treatment	250,664(14	1)					1,513,886(15)	
Health and Welfare Pension Benefits								
TOTAL	250,664						1,513,886	
Arvinder Singh	250,004						1,515,000	
Cash Severance								
Equity Treatment	250,664(16	5)					1,955,676(17)	
Health and Welfare								
Pension Benefits								
TOTAL	250,664						1,955,676	

<sup>(1)</sup> See definition of good reason in Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table Employment Agreements with Named Executive Officers N.V. Tyagarajan.

(2)

Amount represents the payment of an amount equal to two times the sum of Mr. Tyagarajan  $\,$ s then current annual base salary, which was \$600,000, and the annual bonus received for the fiscal year preceding the fiscal year of termination, which annual bonus was \$1,300,000 in 2011 (\$3,800,000).

39

#### **Table of Contents**

- (3) Amounts represent (i) the estimated value of vesting of all unvested Company restricted stock units and unvested Company options and performance shares which were granted in 2011 calculated at the expected performance levels that would have vested in the next twenty four months held by Mr. Tyagarajan as of December 31, 2012 and (ii) the estimated value of performance shares granted in 2012 calculated at the actual performance levels that would have vested at the end of the service period held by Mr. Tyagarajan as of December 31, 2012.
- (4) Amounts represent (i) the estimated value of vesting of all unvested Company restricted stock units and unvested Company options, performance shares granted in 2011 calculated at the target performance vesting that would have vested in the next twelve months held by Mr. Tyagarajan as of December 31, 2012 and (ii) the estimated value of performance shares granted in 2012 calculated at the actual performance levels that would have vested at the end of the service period held by Mr. Tyagarajan as of December 31, 2012.
- (5) Amount represents the estimated value of vesting of all unvested Company options, all unvested Company restricted stock units, performance shares granted in 2011 calculated at the target performance vesting and performance shares granted in 2012 calculated at the actual performance levels held by Mr. Tyagarajan as of December 31, 2012.
- (6) Amount represents the estimated value of unvested Company options, unvested Company restricted stock units and performance shares which were granted in 2011, calculated at the target performance vesting and performance shares granted in 2012, calculated at the actual performance vesting held by Mr. Tyagarajan as of December 31, 2012.
- (7) Amount represents the estimated value of providing Mr. Tyagarajan and his dependents with health benefits for two years following the date of termination at the same level of coverage provided to our US based senior executives. The amount is calculated based on the present value of maximum liability with respect to Mr. Tyagarajan and his dependents under our applicable benefit plan in effect as of December 31, 2012.
- (8) Amount represents the estimated value of pro-rated vesting of Company performance shares granted in 2012, calculated at the actual performance vesting, held by Mr. Bhatia as of December 31, 2012.
- (9) Amount represents the estimated value of vesting of all unvested Company options and performance shares calculated at the target performance vesting or at actual performance vesting, as applicable, held by Mr. Bhatia as of December 31, 2012.
- (10) Amount represents the payment in lump sum of an amount equal to \$550,000 per Mr. Cogny s employment agreement.
- (11) Amount represents the payment in lump sum of an amount equal to \$362,500 representing the earned but unpaid bonus amount as per Mr. Cogny s employment agreement.
- (12) Amount represents the estimated value of pro-rated vesting of Company performance shares granted in 2012, calculated at the actual performance vesting, held by Mr. Cogny as of December 31, 2012.
- (13) Amount represents the estimated value of vesting of all unvested Company options and performance shares calculated at the target performance vesting or at actual performance vesting, as applicable, held by Mr. Cogny as of December 31, 2012.
- (14) Amount represents the estimated value of pro-rated vesting of Company performance shares granted in 2012, calculated at the actual performance vesting, held by Mr. Mehta as of December 31, 2012.
- (15) Amount represents the estimated value of vesting of all unvested Company options and performance shares calculated at the target performance vesting or at actual performance vesting, as applicable, held by Mr. Mehta as of December 31, 2012.

(16) Amount represents the estimated value of pro-rated vesting of Company performance shares granted in 2012, calculated at the actual performance vesting, held by Mr. Singh as of December 31, 2012.

(17) Amount represents the estimated value of vesting of all unvested Company options and performance shares calculated at the target performance vesting or at actual performance vesting, as applicable, held by Mr. Singh as of December 31, 2012.

40

#### DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

#### Overview

The compensation committee reviews and approves the compensation arrangements for our directors. Our non-employee directors each receive an annual retainer of \$45,000, each director serving on our audit committee receives an additional annual payment of \$15,000 and each director serving on our compensation or nominating and governance committees receives an additional annual payment of \$10,000. Mr. Barter receives an additional \$20,000 annually for his service as chairman of the audit committee, Mr. Nunnelly receives an additional \$5,000 annually for his service as chairman of the nominating and governance committee. Mr. Scott also receives \$75,000 annually for his service as chairman of the board and \$72,000 annually for secretarial and office support services. Additionally, our non-employee directors receive an annual grant of 6,000 restricted share units that vest on the last day of the year of grant. In connection with his appointment as chairman of our board in March 2011, Mr. Scott received an additional 9,036 restricted share units with a one-year vesting period.

The following table sets forth the compensation of our non-employee directors for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012.

Name	Fees Earned or Paid in Cash (\$)(1)	Stock Awards (2)(\$)	Total (\$)
J. Barter	125,000	82,380	207,380
A. Chandra	13,750	0	13,750
M. Dzialga	52,500	82,380	134,880
D. Humphrey	11,250	0	11,250
D. Kaden	33,750	82,380	116,130
J. Khattar	105,000	82,380	187,380
J. Madden	107,500	82,380	189,880
D. Nayden	52,500	82,380	134,880
G. Reiner	41,250	82,380	123,630
R. Scott	287,000	82,380	369,380
M. Spence	100,000	82,380	182,380
M. Nunnelly	13,750	0	13,750
M. Verdi	11,250	0	11,250

- (1) In 2012, Messrs. Barter, Khattar, Madden and Spence received an additional payment of \$45,000 for their service on the transaction committee formed in connection with Bain Capital s share purchase and Mr. Scott received an additional \$65,000 for his service as chairman of the transaction committee.
- (2) The amounts shown under this column reflect the dollar amount of the aggregate grant date fair value of equity-based compensation awards granted during the year, calculated in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Codification Topic 718, Compensation Stock Compensation, pursuant to our 2007 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan. Assumptions used in the calculation of these amounts are included in Note 19 Stock-based compensation to our audited consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012 included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K. In accordance with the rules promulgated by the SEC in December 2009, the amounts shown do not exclude the effect of estimated forfeitures related to service-based vesting conditions.

41

The following table shows for each non-employee director (i) the grant date of each restricted stock unit granted during the 2012 fiscal year, (ii) the aggregate number of the Company s common shares subject to each such award, and (iii) the grant-date fair value of each such award, as calculated in accordance with ASC Topic 718.

				Shares	of Common Subject to			
Name		Grant Date(1)		Units	ted Stock Granted (#)		Grant Date Fair Value (\$)	
J. Barter		May 16, 2012		,	6,807		82,380	
A. Chandra		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,			.,		,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	
M. Dzialga		May 16, 2012			6,807(2)		82,380	
D. Humphrey								
D. Kaden		May 16, 2012			6,807(2)		82,380	3
Income (loss) from continuing operations available to common shareholders - basic	\$	82	\$	(8	)	\$	(1,780)	\$4,109
Basic weighted-average shares outstanding (1)	15,5	73	15,3	394		15,5	18	14,040
Effect of dilutive securities:								
Stock options (2)	37							111
Directors' stock performance units (2)	56							65
Diluted weighted-average shares outstanding (1)(2)	15,6	66	15,3	394		15,5	18	14,216
Diluted earnings (loss) per share - continuing operations	\$	0.01	\$	(0.00	)	\$	(0.11)	\$0.29

- (1) Includes Common and Class B Common shares, in thousands.
  - Because their effects are anti-dilutive, shares issuable under stock option plans where the exercise price is greater than the average market price of the Company's Common Stock during the relevant period and directors' stock
- (2) performance units have been excluded. Aggregate shares excluded for the three and nine months ended September 26, 2015 were 220 and 308, respectively, and for the three and nine months ending September 27, 2014 were 552 and 432, respectively.

### NOTE 16 - STOCK COMPENSATION EXPENSE

The Company recognizes compensation expense relating to share-based payments based on the fair value of the equity instrument issued and records such expense in selling and administrative expenses in the Company's Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements. The number of shares to be issued is determined by dividing the specified dollar value of the award by the market value per share on the grant date. The Company's stock compensation expense was \$346 and \$1,071 for the three and nine months ended September 26, 2015, respectively, and \$289 and \$900 for the three and nine months ended September 27, 2014, respectively.

On August 1, 2015, the Company granted 10,000 shares of restricted stock to an employee. The grant-date fair value of the award was \$100, or \$9.980 per share and will be recognized as stock compensation over a 3 year vesting period from the date the award was granted. The award is subject to a continued service condition. The fair value of each share of restricted stock awarded was equal to the market value of a share of the Company's Common Stock on the grant date.

On April 29, 2015, the Company granted 100,000 shares of restricted stock to the Company's Chief Executive Officer. The grant-date fair value of the award was \$982, or \$9.815 per share and will be recognized as stock compensation expense over a 4 year vesting period from the date the award was granted. Vesting of the award is subject to both a service condition and performance condition. The fair value of each share of restricted stock awarded was equal to the market value of a share of the Company's Common Stock on the grant date.

Table of Contents 17

THE DIXIE GROUP, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(amounts in thousands, except per share data) (Continued)

On March 12, 2015, the Company issued 114,625 shares of restricted stock to officers and other key employees. The grant-date fair value of the awards was \$1,021, or \$8.910 per share, and is expected to be recognized as stock compensation expense over a weighted-average period of 7.4 years from the date the awards were granted. Each award is subject to a continued service condition. The fair value of each share of restricted stock awarded was equal to the market value of a share of the Company's Common Stock on the grant date.

## NOTE 17 - ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax, are as follows:

	Interest Rat	e Post-Retir	emen	t Total	
	Swaps	Liabilities	;	Total	
Balance at December 27, 2014	(1,841	) 328		(1,513	)
Unrealized gain (loss) on interest rate swaps, net of tax of \$937	(1,529	) —		(1,529	)
Reclassification of loss into earnings from interest rate swaps, net of t of \$172	281	_		281	
Reclassification of net actuarial gain into earnings from postretirement benefit plans, net of tax of \$12	<u> </u>	(16	)	(16	)
Reclassification of prior service credits into earnings from postretirent benefit plans, net of tax of \$28	nent _	(38	)	(38	)
Balance at September 26, 2015	\$(3,089	) \$ 274		\$(2,815	)

#### NOTE 18 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

#### Commitments

On April 1, 2015, the Company entered into a 15-year lease agreement to lease office space in Dalton, Georgia. The lease began on September 11, 2015. Base annual rent is initially set at approximately \$28 per month. Total base rent payable over the lease period is approximately \$5,028.

#### Contingencies

The Company assesses its exposure related to legal matters, including those pertaining to product liability, safety and health matters and other items that arise in the regular course of its business. If the Company determines that it is probable a loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss, or an amount within the range of loss, that can be reasonably estimated will be recorded.

## **Environmental Remediation**

The Company accrues for losses associated with environmental remediation obligations when such losses are probable and estimable. Remediation obligations are accrued based on the latest available information and are recorded at undiscounted amounts. The Company regularly monitors the progress of environmental remediation. If studies indicate that the cost of remediation has changed from the previous estimate, an adjustment to the liability would be recorded in the period in which such determination is made. (See Note 21)

THE DIXIE GROUP, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(amounts in thousands, except per share data) (Continued)

#### NOTE 19 - OTHER (INCOME) EXPENSE

Other operating (income) expense, net is summarized as follows:

	Three Months Ended			Nine Months Ended				
	September 26, 2015		September 27, 2014		September 26, 2015		September 27 2014	,
Other operating (income) expense, net:								
Gain on property, plant and equipment disposals	\$(79	)	\$(15	)	\$(187	)	\$(18	)
Loss on currency exchanges	85		116		530		342	
Amortization of intangibles	76		105		229		255	
Retirement expenses	83		48		173		94	
Miscellaneous (income) expense	(34	)	(24	)	(61	)	(72	)
Other operating (income) expense, net	\$131		\$230		\$684		\$601	

Other expense, net is summarized as follows:

•	Three Months En	nded	Nine Months Ended			
	September 26, 2015	September 27, 2014	September 26, 2015	September 27, 2014		
Other (income) expense, net:						
Earnings from equity investments	<b>\$</b> —	\$(24	) \$14	\$(67)		
Miscellaneous (income) expense	4	1	31	7		
Other (income) expense, net	\$4	\$(23	) \$45	\$(60)		

## NOTE 20 - FACILITY CONSOLIDATION EXPENSES

## 2014 Warehousing, Distribution & Manufacturing Consolidation Plan

The Company developed a plan to align its warehousing, distribution and manufacturing to support its growth and manufacturing strategy resulting in better cost structure and improved distribution capabilities and customer service. The key element and first major step of this plan was the acquisition of a facility to serve as a finished goods warehouse and a cut-order and distribution center in Adairsville, Georgia. Costs related to the consolidation include moving and relocation expenses, information technology expenses and expenses relating to conversion and realignment of equipment. In addition, this plan includes the elimination of both carpet dyeing and yarn dyeing in the Company's Atmore, Alabama facility designed to more fully accommodate the distribution and manufacturing realignment. As a result, the dyeing operations in Atmore were moved to the Company's continuous dyeing facility, skein dyeing operation and other outside dyeing processors. These costs should be completed in the first half of fiscal 2016.

2014 Atlas Integration Plan

As a part of the March 19, 2014 acquisition of Atlas, the Company developed a plan to close the operations of the Atlas dyeing facility in Los Angeles and move the carpet dyeing of their products to the Company's dyeing operation located in Santa Ana, California. Costs related to the consolidation include equipment relocation, computer systems modifications and severance costs and should be completed in fiscal 2015.

## 2015 Corporate Office Consolidation Plan

In April 2015, the Company's Board of Directors approved the Corporate Office Consolidation Plan, to cover the costs of consolidating three of the Company's existing divisional and corporate offices to a single facility located in Dalton, Georgia. This plan was implemented in September 2015 and should be completed in the fourth quarter of 2015 and is estimated to cost \$716. Costs related to the consolidation include lease cancellation and moving costs.

Table of Contents 19

# THE DIXIE GROUP, INC. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(amounts in thousands, except per share data) (Continued)

Costs related to the facility consolidation plans are summarized as follows:

							As of Septer	mb	er 26, 2015
	Accrued Balance at December 27, 2014	2015 Expenses To Date		2015 Cas Payment		Accrued Balance at September 26, 2015	Total Costs Incurred To Date		Total Expected Costs
Warehousing, Distribution & Manufacturing Consolidation Plan	\$	\$1,786		\$(1,786	)	\$—	\$5,832		\$6,574
Atlas Integration Plan	_	202		(202	)	_	1,670		1,670
Corporate Office Consolidation Plan	_	276		(82	)	194	276		716
Totals	<b>\$</b> —	\$2,264	(1)	\$(2,070	)	\$194	\$7,778	(1)	\$8,960
Asset impairments		\$—	(2)				\$1,133	(2)	\$1,133

<sup>(1)</sup> Costs incurred under these plans are classified as "facility consolidation expenses" in the Company's Consolidated Condensed Statements of Operations.

## NOTE 21 - DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

The Company has previously either sold or discontinued certain operations that are accounted for as "Discontinued Operations" under applicable accounting guidance. Discontinued operations are summarized as follows:

	Three Months 2 September 26, 2015		nded September 27, 2014		Nine Months I September 26, 2015		ded September 27 2014	,
Net sales - Carousel operations	\$—		\$353		\$417		\$829	
Income (loss) from discontinued operations:								
Income (loss) from Carousel operations	\$(12	)	\$(304	)	\$(89	)	\$(680	)
Workers' compensation costs from former textile operations	\$(12	)	\$(8	)	\$(48	)	\$(54	)
Environmental remediation costs from former textile operations	(13	)	(25	)	(56	)	(106	)
Loss from discontinued operations, before taxe	es(37	)	(337	)	(193	)	(840	)
Income tax benefit	(19	)	(160	)	(75	)	(335	)
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax	\$(18	)	\$(177	)	\$(118	)	\$(505	)

<sup>(2)</sup> Asset impairments under these plans, when applicable, are classified as "loss on impairments" in the Company's Consolidated Condensed Statements of Operations.

In the fourth quarter of 2014, the Company discontinued the Carousel specialty tufting and weaving operation that was part of the 2013 Robertex, Inc. acquisition. Operating results associated with Carousel have been classified as discontinued operations for all periods presented.

Undiscounted reserves are maintained for the self-insured workers' compensation obligations related to the Company's former textile operations. These reserves are administered by a third-party workers' compensation service provider under the supervision of Company personnel. Such reserves are reassessed on a quarterly basis. Pre-tax cost incurred for workers' compensation as a component of discontinued operations primarily represents a change in estimate for each period for medical costs associated with the Company's obligations.

Reserves for environmental remediation obligations are established on an undiscounted basis for the Company's former textile operations. The Company has an accrual for environmental remediation obligations of \$1,604 and \$1,637 as of September 26, 2015 and December 27, 2014, respectively. The liability established represents the Company's best estimate of possible loss and is the reasonable amount to which there is any meaningful degree of certainty given the periods of estimated remediation

Table of Contents 20

THE DIXIE GROUP, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

a result of specific events requiring action and additional expense in each period.

and the dollars applicable to such remediation for those periods. The actual timeline to remediate, and thus, the ultimate cost to complete such remediation through these remediation efforts, may differ significantly from our estimates. Pre-tax cost for environmental remediation obligations classified as discontinued operations were primarily

#### NOTE 22 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(amounts in thousands, except per share data) (Continued)

The Company purchases a portion of its product needs in the form of fiber, yarn, carpet and dyeing services from Engineered Floors, an entity substantially controlled by Robert E. Shaw, a shareholder of the Company. Mr. Shaw holds approximately 8.4% of the Company's Common Stock, which represents approximately 3.9% of the total vote of all classes of the Company's Common Stock. Engineered Floors is one of several suppliers of such services to the Company. Total purchases from Engineered Floors during the three and nine months ended September 26, 2015 were approximately \$2,396 and \$6,889, respectively; or approximately 2.9% and 2.9%, respectively, of the Company's cost of goods sold. Total purchases from Engineered Floors during the three and nine months ended September 27, 2014 were approximately \$2,666 and \$8,792, respectively; or approximately 3.2% and 3.8%, respectively, of the Company's cost of goods sold. Purchases from Engineered Floors are based on market value, negotiated prices. The Company has no contractual arrangements or commitments with Mr. Shaw associated with its business relationship with Engineered Floors. Transactions with Engineered Floors were reviewed and approved by the Company's board of directors.

The Company is a party to a 5-year lease with the seller of Atlas Carpet Mills, Inc. to lease three manufacturing facilities as part of the acquisition in 2014. The lessor is controlled by an associate of the Company. Rent paid to the lessor during the three and nine months ended September 26, 2015 was \$114 and \$343, respectively. Rent paid to the lessor during the three and nine months ended September 27, 2014 was \$114 and \$229, respectively. The lease was based on current market values for similar facilities.

The Company is a party to a 10-year lease with the Rothman Family Partnership to lease a manufacturing facility as part of the Robertex acquisition in 2013. The lessor is controlled by an associate of the Company. Rent paid to the lessor during the three and nine months ended September 26, 2015 was \$66 and \$196, respectively. Rent paid to the lessor for the three and nine months ended September 27, 2014 was \$65 and \$192, respectively. The lease was based on current market values for similar facilities. In addition, the Company has a note payable to Robert P. Rothman related to the acquisition of Robertex Inc. (See Note 10).

Table of Contents 21

#### Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following is presented to update the discussion of results of operations and financial condition included in our 2014 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

#### FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

This Report contains statements that may be considered forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. These statements include the use of terms or phrases that include such terms as "expects," "estimates," "projects," "believes," "anticipates," "intends," and similar terms and phrases. Such forward looking statements relate to, among other matters, our future financial performance, business prospects, growth strategies or liquidity. The following important factors may affect our future results and could cause those results to differ materially from our historical results; these factors include, in addition to those "Risk Factors" detailed in item 1A of this report and described elsewhere in this document, the cost and availability of capital, raw material and transportation costs related to petroleum price levels, the cost and availability of energy supplies, the loss of a significant customer or group of customers, materially adverse changes in economic conditions generally in carpet, rug and floor covering markets we serve and other risks detailed from time to time in our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

#### **OVERVIEW**

During the third quarter of 2015, our sales were 0.1% below those of the same period in 2014. Sales of residential products decreased 1.5% in 2015 versus 2014, while, we estimate, the industry had a decrease in the low single digits. We anticipate the residential remodeling market to have marginal growth for the remainder of the year.

Commercial product sales increased 4.5% during the third quarter of 2015, while, we believe, the industry reflected an increase in the low single digits. Our Atlas products had an increase of 11.8% during the quarter. We are pleased with the new products we have introduced for Atlas so far in 2015.

We have completed the bulk of our capacity expansion and consolidation initiatives. The more significant impacts in 2015 relate to training, quality and waste associated with these endeavors. We anticipate these costs to drop as the training process comes to an end and our associates become more proficient in their new duties. Further we are seeing a decline in quality related costs for production subsequent to our restructuring efforts, reflecting the results of our training and related process improvement efforts. The status of our restructuring and facilities consolidation plans are discussed below.

Our Warehousing, Distribution & Manufacturing Consolidation Plan was developed to align our warehousing, distribution and manufacturing with our growth and manufacturing strategy. The plan was designed to create a better cost structure as well as improve distribution capabilities and customer service. In June of 2014, the Board of Directors approved a modification of this plan to include the elimination of both carpet dyeing and yarn dyeing in our Atmore, Alabama facility. Elimination of dyeing at this facility was designed to more fully accommodate our distribution and manufacturing realignment. Accordingly, the dyeing operations in Atmore were moved to our Colormaster continuous dyeing facility, our Calhoun Wool skein dyeing operation and other outside dyeing processors.

Total expenses of the Warehousing, Distribution & Manufacturing Consolidation Plan are anticipated to be approximately \$6.4 million. Expenses of this plan were \$341 thousand in the third quarter of 2015 and \$5.8 million since its initiation in 2014. We estimate additional spending primarily related to the movement of our Saraland,

Alabama rug operation moving from a rented facility into a company-owned facility of approximately \$742 thousand under this plan through early 2016. These expenses of the plan primarily consist of moving and relocating inventory and equipment, facility restoration, information technology expenses and expenses relating to conversion and realignment of equipment. In addition, we incurred non-cash asset impairment charges of \$1.1 million subsequent to the first quarter of 2014 related to manufacturing changes and equipment taken out of service in our facilities.

On March 19, 2014, we acquired Atlas Carpet Mills. As a part of the Atlas acquisition, we discontinued operations at the Atlas dyeing facility in Los Angeles and moved the carpet dyeing of their products to our Susan Street dyeing operation located in Santa Ana, California. We initiated an Atlas Integration Plan to accommodate the dyeing move and address the modification of computer systems. The costs of these initiatives were \$1.7 million. This plan was completed in the second quarter of 2015.

In April 2015, our Board of Directors approved our Corporate Office Consolidation Plan, to cover the costs of consolidating three of our existing divisional and corporate offices to a single facility located in Dalton, Georgia. We began implementing this plan during the third quarter of 2015 and incurred expenses of \$276 thousand during the quarter. We estimate this plan to cost approximately \$716 thousand, primarily related to lease cancellation charges for the facilities we are vacating.

Table of Contents 22

#### **RESULTS OF OPERATIONS**

As a result of the discontinuance of the non-core Carousel brand in the fourth quarter of 2014, the operating results of Carousel have been reclassified to discontinued operations for all periods presented. Carousel was acquired as a portion of the Robertex acquisition in 2013.

The following table sets forth certain elements of our continuing operations as a percentage of net sales for the periods indicated:

	Three Mo	Three Months Ended				Nine Months Ended			
	Septembe	September 26, September 27,		September 26,		September 27,			
	2015		2014		2015		2014		
Net sales	100.0	%	100.0	%	100.0	%	100.0	%	
Cost of sales	75.0	%	75.6	%	74.6	%	76.4	%	
Gross profit	25.0	%	24.4	%	25.4	%	23.6	%	
Selling and administrative expenses	23.2	%	21.8	%	24.2	%	22.6	%	
Other operating expense, net	0.1	%	0.2	%	0.3	%	0.2	%	
Facility consolidation expenses	0.5	%	1.5	%	0.7	%	0.9	%	
Impairment of assets	_	%	0.1	%	_	%	0.2	%	
Operating income (loss)	1.2	%	0.8	%	0.2	%	(0.3	)%	

#### Net Sales

Net sales for the quarter ended September 26, 2015 were \$108.9 million, a decrease of 0.1% compared with net sales of \$109.0 million for the year-earlier quarter. In the third quarter of 2015, residential carpet sales decreased 1.5% while net sales of commercial carpet increased 4.5% compared with the third quarter of 2014.

Net sales in the first nine months of 2015 were \$314.7 million compared with net sales of \$302.0 million in the first nine months of 2014, an increase of 4.2%. Excluding sales related to Atlas, net sales reflected an increase of 2.3% in the nine months of 2015 compared to the nine months of 2014. Residential carpet sales decreased 0.3% and commercial net sales increased 16.7% in the first nine months of 2015 compared with the first nine months of 2014.

#### Cost of Sales

Cost of sales as a percentage of net sales was 75.0% in the third quarter of 2015 compared with 75.6% in the third quarter of 2014, reflecting a 0.6 percentage point improvement as a percentage of net sales. The improvement was a result of improved operations as our restructuring winds down, partially offset by continued higher than desired levels of waste and quality costs related to production made during the facility consolidation period. The third quarter of 2014 included expenses of \$196 thousand for the amortization of the step-up in inventory for the acquisition of Atlas. The third quarter of 2014 was negatively affected by operational inefficiencies in our manufacturing processes as we implemented our facility consolidation plans.

Cost of sales as a percentage of net sales was 74.6% in the first nine months of 2015 compared with 76.4% in the first nine months of 2014, reflecting a 1.8 percentage point improvement as a percentage of net sales. During the first nine months of 2015, we experienced higher costs associated with our self-insured group medical plan, certain product quality costs, training and increased waste as we continued to realign processes within our facilities. We have seen decreases in raw material costs in 2015; however, due to the volatility of raw material costs, it is difficult at this time to predict the future cost trends. The nine months of 2015 included a reduction of cost of \$459 thousand for an

adjustment to estimated acquisition-related contingent payments compared with a reduction of cost of \$391 thousand in the nine months of 2014. The nine months of 2014 included expenses of \$390 thousand for the amortization of the step-up in inventory for the acquisition of Atlas. The first nine months of 2014 were negatively affected by operational inefficiencies in our manufacturing processes as we implemented our facility consolidation plans. Additionally, the first nine months of 2014 included \$1.5 million of costs directly attributable to the adverse weather conditions in January and February of 2014 and manufacturing inefficiencies related to the replacement of the dryer at our Colormaster continuous dyeing facility.

#### **Gross Profit**

Gross profit as a percentage of sales improved in the third quarter of 2015 and nine months of 2015 compared with the year-earlier periods for the reasons discussed above in Cost of Sales.

Table of Contents 23

#### Selling and Administrative Expenses

Selling and administrative expenses were 23.2% of sales during the third quarter of 2015 compared with 21.8% of sales during the third quarter of 2014. Selling and administrative expenses increased as a percentage of sales primarily as a result of higher selling expenses and higher health care costs. The third quarter of 2014 included \$151 thousand of costs related primarily to the Atlas and Burtco acquisitions.

Selling and administrative expenses were 24.2% of sales during the nine months of 2015 compared with 22.6% of sales during the nine months of 2014. Selling and administrative expenses increased as a percentage of sales primarily as a result of higher selling expenses, partially due to the acquisition of Atlas which has higher selling and administrative costs than the overall company average, and higher health care costs. In addition, we continued to spend at a higher level for product sampling during the nine months of 2015 related to a number of new and differentiated products to be introduced intended to enhance our market position and profitability. The nine months of 2014 included \$759 thousand of costs related to the Atlas and Burtco acquisitions.

#### Other Operating Expense, Net

Other operating expense, net was an expense of \$131 thousand in the third quarter of 2015 compared with an expense of \$231 thousand in the third quarter of 2014. Other operating expense, net was an expense of \$684 thousand in the nine months of 2015 compared with an expense of \$601 thousand in the year-earlier period.

#### Facility Consolidation Expenses & Impairment of Assets

Facility consolidation expenses were \$614 thousand in the third quarter of 2015 compared with \$1.6 million in the year-earlier period. We did not have any asset impairment charges in the third quarter of 2015 as compared to \$104 thousand of such charges in the year earlier period. Expenses in the third quarter of 2015 were lower as a result of the completion of the Atlas Integration Plan and the winding down of the Warehousing, Distribution & Manufacturing Consolidation Plan during the quarter.

Facility consolidation expenses were \$2.3 million in the first nine months of 2015 compared with \$2.7 million in the year-earlier period. We did not have any asset impairment charges in the nine month period in 2015 as compared to \$759 thousand in such charges in the year earlier period.

#### Operating Income (Loss)

We reported operating income of \$1.3 million in the third quarter of 2015 compared with \$832 thousand in the third quarter of 2014. During the third quarter of 2015, our operations continued to improve as our restructuring continued to wind down partially offset by continued higher than desired levels of quality and waste costs. The third quarter of 2014 was negatively affected by operational inefficiencies in our manufacturing processes as we implemented our facility consolidation plans.

For the nine months of 2015, we reported operating income of \$747 thousand compared with an operating loss of \$822 thousand in the year-earlier period. During the first nine months of 2015, we experienced higher costs associated with our self-insured group medical plan, certain product quality costs, training and increased waste as we continued to realign processes within our facilities. Operating results in the 2014 reporting period were negatively affected by weather-related costs, manufacturing inefficiencies related to the replacement of the dryer at Colormaster and the Atlas acquisition-related expenses.

#### Interest Expense

Interest expense increased \$212 thousand in the third quarter of 2015 and \$442 thousand in the nine months of 2015 compared with the year-earlier periods principally a result of higher interest rates and levels of debt in 2015.

Other (Income) Expense, Net

Other (income) expense, net was not significant in the third quarter or nine months of 2015 or 2014.

Income Tax Provision (Benefit)

Our effective income tax rate is based upon estimated annual income tax rates. The effective income tax rate in the nine months of 2015 was 38.6% compared with an effective income tax rate of 40.1% in the year-earlier period. The first nine months of 2014 included the recognition of approximately \$117 thousand of tax expense related to certain market-based stock awards that were not earned.

Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations

We had income from continuing operations of \$84 thousand, or \$0.01 per diluted share in the third quarter of 2015 compared with a loss from continuing operations of \$8 thousand, or \$0.00 per diluted share in the third quarter of 2014. We had a loss from continuing operations of \$1.8 million, or \$0.11 per diluted share in the nine months of 2015 compared with income from

Table of Contents 24

continuing operations of \$4.3 million, or \$0.29 per diluted share in the nine months of 2014. The nine months of 2014 included a pretax gain of \$11.1 million on the purchases of Atlas and Burtco which had a positive effect on income from continuing operations of approximately \$6.6 million after-tax.

#### Net Income (Loss)

Discontinued operations reflected a loss of \$18 thousand, or \$0.00 per diluted share, in the third quarter of 2015 compared with a loss of \$177 thousand, or \$0.01 per diluted share, in the same period in 2014. Including discontinued operations, we had net income of \$66 thousand, or \$0.01 per diluted share, in the third quarter of 2015 compared with a net loss of \$185 thousand, or \$0.01 per diluted share, in the third quarter of 2014.

Discontinued operations reflected a loss of \$118 thousand, or \$0.01 per diluted share, in the nine months of 2015 compared with a loss of \$505 thousand, or \$0.04 per diluted share, in the same period in 2014. Including discontinued operations, we had a net loss of \$1.9 million, or \$0.12 per diluted share, in the nine months of 2015 compared with net income of \$3.8 million, or \$0.25 per diluted share, in the nine months of 2014.

#### LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

During the nine months ended September 26, 2015, cash provided by operations was \$2.8 million. Inventories increased \$10.6 million which was offset by an increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses of \$9.9 million. Inventories increased to seasonal levels to support anticipated higher levels of business.

Capital asset acquisitions for the nine months ended September 26, 2015 were \$10.0 million; \$5.3 million of cash used in investing activities, \$2.9 million of equipment acquired under notes and capital leases and \$1.8 million of previous deposits utilized for capital additions. Depreciation and amortization for the nine months ended September 26, 2015 were \$11.0 million. We expect capital expenditures to be approximately \$13.0 million in 2015 for normal capital expenditures while depreciation and amortization is expected to be approximately \$14.5 million. Planned capital expenditures in 2015 are primarily for new equipment.

During the nine months ended September 26, 2015, cash provided by financing activities was \$2.2 million. In January 2015, we entered into a ten-year \$6.3 million mortgage note payable to finance an owned facility in Saraland, Alabama. We had proceeds of \$1.2 million from our revolving credit facility and \$1.0 million from equipment notes payable. These proceeds are offset by payments on other notes payable and lease obligations of \$7.5 million. See Note 10 in the Notes to Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements of this Form 10-Q for a discussion of our long-term debt arrangements which is incorporated herein by reference.

We believe our operating cash flows, credit availability under our revolving credit facility and other sources of financing are adequate to finance our normal liquidity requirements. As of September 26, 2015, the unused borrowing availability under our revolving credit facility was \$36.4 million. Our revolving credit facility requires us to maintain a fixed charge coverage ratio of 1.1 to 1.0 during any period that borrowing availability is less than \$16.5 million. As of the date hereof, our fixed coverage ratio was less than 1.1 to 1.0, accordingly the unused availability accessible by us is the amount above \$16.5 million. Significant additional cash expenditures above our normal liquidity requirements or significant deterioration in economic conditions could affect our business and require supplemental financing or other funding sources. There can be no assurance that such supplemental financing or other sources of funding can be obtained or will be obtained on terms favorable to us.

**Contractual Obligations** 

Our contractual obligations were described in Management's Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition in our 2014 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. On April 1, 2015, we entered into a 15-year lease agreement to lease office space in Dalton, Georgia. The lease began in September 2015. Base annual rent is initially set at approximately \$28 thousand per month. Total base rent payable over the lease period is \$5.0 million.

## **Critical Accounting Policies**

Our critical accounting policies were outlined in Management's Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition in our 2014 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. There have been no significant changes to those critical accounting policies subsequent to the date of that report.

#### Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2 in the Notes to Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements of this Form 10-Q for a discussion of new accounting pronouncements which is incorporated herein by reference.

#### Table of Contents 25

#### Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk (Dollars in thousands)

Our earnings, cash flows and financial position are exposed to market risks relating to interest rates, among other factors. It is our policy to minimize our exposure to adverse changes in interest rates and manage interest rate risks inherent in funding our Company with debt. We address this financial exposure through a risk management program that includes maintaining a mix of fixed and floating rate debt and the use of interest rate swap agreements (See Note 12 to the Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements).

At September 26, 2015, \$40,160, or approximately 31% of our total debt, was subject to floating interest rates. A 10% fluctuation in the variable interest rates applicable to this floating rate debt would have an annual after-tax impact of approximately \$5.

#### Item 4. Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Commission's rules and forms and is accumulated and communicated to management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Our management, under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer ("CEO") and Chief Financial Officer ("CFO") evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as such terms are defined in Rules 13(a)-15(e) and 15(d)-15(e)) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act") as of September 26, 2015, the date of the financial statements included in this Form 10-Q (the "Evaluation Date"). Based on that evaluation, our CEO and CFO concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the Evaluation Date.

No changes in our internal control over financial reporting occurred during the quarter covered by this report that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

On March 19, 2014 and September 22, 2014, we acquired Atlas Carpet Mills, Inc. ("Atlas") and Burtco Enterprises ("Burtco"), respectively. We excluded the operations of Atlas and Burtco from the scope of our Sarbanes-Oxley Section 404 report on internal controls over financial reporting for the year ended December 27, 2014. We are in the process of implementing our internal control structure with respect to the acquired operations. This implementation will be completed in fiscal 2015.

Internal control over financial reporting cannot provide absolute assurance of achieving financial reporting objectives because of its inherent limitations. Internal control over financial reporting is a process that involves human diligence and compliance and is subject to lapses in judgment and breakdowns resulting from human failures, as well as diverse interpretation of U. S. generally accepted accounting principles by accounting professionals. It is also possible that internal control over financial reporting can be circumvented by collusion or improper management override. Because of such limitations, there is a risk that material misstatements may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis by internal control over financial reporting. Furthermore, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. These inherent limitations are known features of the financial reporting process; therefore, while it is possible to design into the process safeguards to reduce such risk, it is not possible to eliminate all risk.

<u>Table of Contents</u> 26

#### PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

None.

#### Item 1A. Risk Factors

In addition to the other information provided in this Report, the following risk factors should be considered when evaluating the results of our operations, future prospects and an investment in shares of our Common Stock. Any of these factors could cause our actual financial results to differ materially from our historical results, and could give rise to events that might have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The floorcovering industry is sensitive to changes in general economic conditions and a decline in residential or commercial construction activity or corporate remodeling and refurbishment could have a material adverse effect on our business.

The floorcovering industry, in which the Company participates, is highly dependent on general economic conditions, such as consumer confidence and income, corporate and government spending, interest rate levels, availability of credit and demand for housing. The Company derives a majority of its sales from the replacement segment of the market. Therefore, economic changes that result in a significant or prolonged decline in spending for remodeling and replacement activities could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business and results of operations.

The floorcovering industry is highly dependent on construction activity, including new construction, which is cyclical in nature, and recently experienced a downturn. The 2008 downturn in the U.S. and global economies, along with the residential and commercial markets in such economies, negatively impacted the floorcovering industry and the Company's business. Although the impact of a decline in new construction activity is typically accompanied by an increase in remodeling and replacement activity, these activities lagged during the downturn. Although the difficult economic conditions have improved, there may be additional downturns that could cause the industry to deteriorate in the foreseeable future. A significant or prolonged decline in residential or commercial construction activity could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business and results of operations.

We have significant levels of sales in certain channels of distribution and reduction in sales through these channels could adversely affect our business.

A significant amount of our sales are generated through certain retail and mass merchant channels of distribution. Because we depend on such certain channels of distribution, a significant reduction of sales through these channels could adversely affect our business.

We have significant levels of indebtedness that could result in negative consequences to us.

We have a significant amount of indebtedness relative to our equity. Insufficient cash flow, profitability or the value of our assets securing our loans could materially adversely affect our ability to generate sufficient funds to satisfy the terms of our senior loan agreements and other debt obligations. Additionally, the inability to access debt or equity markets at competitive rates in sufficient amounts to satisfy our obligations could adversely impact our business.

Uncertainty in the credit market or downturns in the economy and our business could affect our overall availability and cost of credit.

Uncertainty in the credit markets could affect the overall availability and cost of credit. Despite recent improvement in overall economic conditions, market conditions could impact our ability to obtain financing in the future, including any financing necessary to refinance existing indebtedness, and the cost and terms of it, remains uncertain. These and other economic factors could have a material adverse effect on demand for our products and on its financial condition and operating results.

We face intense competition in our industry, which could decrease demand for our products and could have a material adverse effect on our profitability.

The floorcovering industry is highly competitive. We face competition from a number of domestic manufacturers and independent distributors of floorcovering products and, in certain product areas, foreign manufacturers. Significant consolidation within the floorcovering industry has caused a number of our existing and potential competitors to grow significantly larger and have greater access to resources and capital than we do. Maintaining our competitive position may require us to make substantial additional investments in our product development efforts, manufacturing facilities, distribution network and sales and marketing activities. These additional investments may be limited by our access to capital, as well as restrictions set forth in our

Table of Contents 27

credit facilities. Competitive pressures, both from other providers of soft surfaces and the growth of hard surface alternatives, may also result in decreased demand for our products and in the loss of market share. In addition, we face, and will continue to face, competitive pressures on our sales price and cost of our products. As a result of any of these factors, there could be a material adverse effect on our sales and profitability.

If we are unable to anticipate consumer preferences and successfully develop and introduce new, innovative and updated products, we may not be able to maintain or increase our net revenues and profitability.

Our success depends on our ability to identify and originate product trends as well as to anticipate and react to changing consumer demands in a timely manner. All of our products are subject to changing consumer preferences that cannot be predicted with certainty. In addition, long lead times for certain of our products may make it hard for us to quickly respond to changes in consumer demands. Our new products may not receive consumer acceptance as consumer preferences could shift rapidly to different types of flooring products or away from these types of products altogether, and our future success depends in part on our ability to anticipate and respond to these changes. Failure to anticipate and respond in a timely manner to changing consumer preferences could lead to, among other things, lower sales and excess inventory levels, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition.

Raw material prices may vary and the inability to either offset or pass on such cost increases or avoid passing on decreases larger than the cost decrease to our customers could materially adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We require substantial amounts of raw materials to produce our products, including nylon and polyester yarn, as well as wool yarns, synthetic backing, latex, and dyes. Substantially all of the raw materials we require are purchased from outside sources. The prices of raw materials and fuel-related costs vary significantly with market conditions. The fact that we source a significant amount of raw materials means that several months of raw materials and work in process are moving through our supply chain at any point in time. We are not able to predict whether commodity costs will significantly increase or decrease in the future. If commodity costs increase in the future and we are not able to reduce or eliminate the effect of the cost increases by reducing production costs or implementing price increases, our profit margins could decrease. If commodity costs were to decline, we may experience pressures from customers to reduce our selling prices. The timing of any price reductions and decreases in commodity costs may not align. As a result, our margins could be affected.

Unanticipated termination or interruption of our arrangements with third-party suppliers of nylon yarn could have a material adverse effect on us.

Nylon yarn is the principal raw material used in our floorcovering products. A significant portion of such yarn is purchased from one supplier. Our yarn supplier is one of the leading fiber suppliers within the industry and is the exclusive supplier of certain innovative branded fiber technology upon which we rely. We believe our offerings of this innovative fiber technology contribute materially to the competitiveness of our products. While we believe there are other sources of nylon yarns, an unanticipated termination or interruption of our current supply of nylon yarn could have a material adverse effect on our ability to supply our product to our customers and have a material adverse impact on our competitiveness if we are unable to replace our nylon supplier with another supplier that can offer similar innovative fiber products. An extended interruption in the supply of these or other raw materials or sourced products used in the Company's business or in the supply of suitable substitute materials or products would disrupt the Company's operations, which could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business.

We may experience certain risks associated with internal expansion, acquisitions, joint ventures and strategic investments.

We have recently embarked on several strategic and tactical initiatives, including aggressive internal expansion, acquisitions and investment in new products, to strengthen our future and to enable us to return to sustained growth and profitability. Growth through expansion and acquisition involves risks, many of which may continue to affect us after the acquisition or expansion. An acquired company, operation or internal expansion may not achieve the levels of revenue, profitability and production that we expect. The combination of an acquired company's business with ours involves risks. Further, internally generated growth that involves expansion involves risks as well. Such risks include the integration of computer systems, alignment of human resource policies and the retention of valued talent. Reported earnings may not meet expectations because of goodwill and intangible asset impairment, other asset impairments, increased interest costs and issuance of additional securities or debt as a result of these acquisitions. We may also face challenges in consolidating functions and integrating our organizations, procedures, operations and product lines in a timely and efficient manner.

The diversion of management attention and any difficulties encountered in the transition and integration process could have a material adverse effect on our revenues, level of expenses and operating results. Failure to successfully manage and integrate an acquisition with our existing operations or expansion of our existing operations could lead to the potential loss of customers of the acquired or existing business, the potential loss of employees who may be vital to the new or existing operations, the potential loss of business opportunities or other adverse consequences that could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Even if integration occurs successfully, failure of the expansion or acquisition to achieve levels of anticipated sales growth, profitability or productivity, or otherwise perform as expected, may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Table of Contents 28

We are subject to various environmental, safety and health regulations that may subject us to costs, liabilities and other obligations, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We are subject to various environmental, safety and health and other regulations that may subject us to costs, liabilities and other obligations which could have a material adverse effect on our business. The applicable requirements under these laws are subject to amendment, to the imposition of new or additional requirements and to changing interpretations of agencies or courts. We could incur material expenditures to comply with new or existing regulations, including fines and penalties and increased costs of its operations. Additionally, future laws, ordinances or regulations could give rise to additional compliance or remediation costs that could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. For example, producer responsibility regulations regarding end-of-life disposal could impose additional cost and complexity to our business.

Various federal, state and local environmental laws govern the use of our current and former facilities. These laws govern such matters as:

Discharge to air and water;

Handling and disposal of solid and hazardous substances and waste, and

Remediation of contamination from releases of hazardous substances in our facilities and off-site disposal locations.

Our operations also are governed by laws relating to workplace safety and worker health, which, among other things, establish noise standards and regulate the use of hazardous materials and chemicals in the workplace. We have taken, and will continue to take, steps to comply with these laws. If we fail to comply with present or future environmental or safety regulations, we could be subject to future liabilities. However, we cannot ensure that complying with these environmental or health and safety laws and requirements will not adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We may be exposed to litigation, claims and other legal proceedings in the ordinary course of business relating to our products or business, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

In the ordinary course of business, we are subject to a variety of work-related and product-related claims, lawsuits and legal proceedings, including those relating to product liability, product warranty, product recall, personal injury, and other matters that are inherently subject to many uncertainties regarding the possibility of a loss our business. Such matters could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition if we are unable to successfully defend against or resolve these matters or if our insurance coverage is insufficient to satisfy any judgments against us or settlements relating to these matters. Although we have product liability insurance, the policies may not provide coverage for certain claims against us or may not be sufficient to cover all possible liabilities. Further, we may not be able to maintain insurance at commercially acceptable premium levels. Additionally, adverse publicity arising from claims made against us, even if the claims are not successful, could adversely affect our reputation or the reputation and sales of our products.

Our business operations could suffer significant losses from natural disasters, catastrophes, fire or other unexpected events.

Many of our business activities involve substantial investments in manufacturing facilities and many products are produced at a limited number of locations. These facilities could be materially damaged by natural disasters, such as floods, tornadoes, hurricanes and earthquakes, or by fire or other unexpected events such as adverse weather

conditions or other disruptions to our facilities, supply chain or our customer's facilities. We could incur uninsured losses and liabilities arising from such events, including damage to our reputation, and/or suffer material losses in operational capacity, which could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Table of Contents 29

## Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

## Repurchases of Common Stock

The following table provides information regarding our repurchases of shares of our Common Stock during the three months ended September 26, 2015:

Month Ending	Total Number of Shares Purchased	Average Price Paid Per Share	Total Number of Shares Purchased as Part of Publicly Announced Plans or Programs (1)	Maximum Number (or approximate dollar value) of Shares That May Yet Be Purchased Under Plans or Programs
August 1, 2015	_	<b>\$</b> —	_	C
August 29, 2015	3,876	10.98	3,876	
September 26, 2015	1,205	10.02	1,205	
Three Months Ended September 26, 2015	5,081	\$10.75	5,081	\$2,496,241

<sup>(1)</sup> During the three months ended September 26, 2015, 5,081 shares were withheld from employees in lieu of cash payments for withholding taxes due for a total amount of \$54,633.

#### Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not Applicable.

Item 5. Other Information

None.

Item 6. Exhibits (a.) Exhibits

10.1 Thornton Edge LLC Lease for Reed Road Facility

10.2 Thornton Edge LLC First Lease Amendment for Reed Road Facility

10.3 Thornton Edge LLC Second Lease Amendment for Reed Road Facility

31.1 CEO Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2 CFO Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

- 32.1 CEO Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
- 32.2 CFO Certification pursuant to 18 U.S. C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
- 101.INSXBRL Instance Document
- 101.SCHXBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
- 101.CALXBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
- 101.DEFXBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
- 101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
- 101.PREXBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

Table of Contents 30

## **SIGNATURES**

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

THE DIXIE GROUP, INC.

(Registrant)

Date: November 4, 2015 By: /s/ JON A. FAULKNER

Jon A. Faulkner

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Table of Contents 31